Multiple stressors on biotic interactions: how climate change and alien species interact to affect pollination

Oliver Schweiger^{1*}, Jacobus C. Biesmeijer², Riccardo Bommarco³, Thomas Hickler⁴, Philip E. Hulme⁵, Stefan Klotz¹, Ingolf Kühn¹, Mari Moora⁶, Anders Nielsen⁷, Ralf Ohlemüller⁸, Theodora Petanidou⁷, Simon G. Potts⁹, Petr Pyšek¹⁰, Jane C. Stout¹¹, Martin T. Sykes⁴, Thomas Tscheulin⁷, Montserrat Vilà¹², Gian-Reto Walther¹³, Catrin Westphal^{14,15}, Marten Winter^{1,16}, Martin Zobel⁶ and Josef Settele¹

¹ UFZ - Helmholtz Centre for Environmental Research, Department of Community Ecology, Theodor-Lieser-Strasse 4, 06120 Halle, Germany

² Institute of Integrative and Comparative Biology, University of Leeds, Leeds LS2 97T, UK

³ Department of Ecology, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, P.O. Box 7044, SE-750 07, Uppsala, Sweden

⁴ Department of Physical Geography & Ecosystems Analysis, Lund University, Sölvegatan 12, 223 62 Lund, Sweden

⁵ The Bio-Protection Research Centre, Lincoln University, Canterbury, New Zealand

⁶ Institute of Ecology and Earth Sciences, University of Tartu, Lai 40, Tartu, 51005, Estonia

⁷ Laboratory of Biogeography and Ecology, Department of Geography, University of the Aegean, University Hill, GR-81100 Mytilene, Greece

⁸ School of Biological and Biomedical Sciences, University of Durham, Durham DH1 3LE, England

⁹ School of Agriculture, Policy and Development, University of Reading, Reading University, PO Box 237, Reading, RG6 6AR, UK

¹⁰ Institute of Botany, Department of Invasion Ecology, Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic, CZ 252 43 Průhonice & Department of

Ecology, Faculty of Science, Charles University, Viničná 7, CZ 128 01 Prague, Czech Republic

¹¹ Botany Department, School of Natural Sciences, Trinity College Dublin, Dublin 2, Republic of Ireland

¹² Estación Biológica de Doñana (EBD-CSIC), Avda. Américo Vespucio s/n, Isla de la Cartuja, 41092 Sevilla, Spain

¹³ Department of Plant Ecology, University of Bayreuth, 95440 Bayreuth, Germany

¹⁴ Department of Animal Ecology I, Population Ecology, University of Bayreuth, Universitaetsstrasse 30, 95447 Bayreuth, Germany

¹⁵ Agroecology, Georg-August-University Göttingen, Waldweg 26, 37083 Göttingen, Germany

¹⁶ Ecology & Evolution Unit, Department of Biology, University of Fribourg, Chemin du Musée 10, CH-1700 Fribourg, Switzerland

(Received 4 February 2009; revised 12 January 2010; accepted 20 January 2010)

ABSTRACT

Global change may substantially affect biodiversity and ecosystem functioning but little is known about its effects on essential biotic interactions. Since different environmental drivers rarely act in isolation it is important to consider interactive effects. Here, we focus on how two key drivers of anthropogenic environmental change, climate change and the introduction of alien species, affect plant-pollinator interactions. Based on a literature survey we identify climatically sensitive aspects of species interactions, assess potential effects of climate change and alien species will ultimately lead to the creation of novel communities. In these communities certain interactions may no longer occur while there will also be potential for the emergence of new relationships. Alien species can both partly compensate for the often negative effects of climate change but also amplify them in some cases. Since potential positive effects are often restricted to generalist interactions among species, climate change and alien species in combination can result in significant threats to more specialist interactions involving native species.

Key words: biological invasions, competition, ecosystem functions, ecosystem services, global change, higher order effects, multiple drivers, pollination, species interactions.

* Address for correspondence: oliver.schweiger@ufz.de

CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	778
II.	Climate-change effects on plant-pollinator interactions	779
III.	Indirect effects of climate change: the emergence of novel communities	781
IV.	Alien vs. native pollinators: differences in species traits and response to climate	783
ν.	Alien vs. native plants: differences in species traits and response to climate	784
VI.	Alien species: threat or buffer when climate changes?	785
	(1) Direct effects within trophic levels	785
	(2) Direct effects across trophic levels	786
	(3) Indirect effects <i>via</i> the corresponding trophic level	787
	(4) More complex interactions	787
	(5) Invader complexes	788
VII.	Rapid evolution as a potential buffer	789
	(1) Microevolutionary response to climate change	789
	(2) Microevolutionary response to novel communities	789
VIII.	Plant–pollinator network architecture as a potential buffer	790
IX.	Conclusions	790
Х.	Acknowledgements	791
XI.	References	791

I. INTRODUCTION

It is well established that ongoing global change may significantly impact biodiversity (Vitousek et al., 1997; Dukes & Mooney, 1999; Sala et al., 2000) and may lead to the generation of novel communities (Ohlemüller et al., 2006; Hobbs et al., 2006; Williams & Jackson, 2007). While separate effects of the main drivers of global change, such as climate change, habitat loss, nitrogen deposition and biological invasions are increasingly well documented (Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005), much less is known about their consequences when acting in combination (Sala et al., 2000). This may result in flawed conclusions since multiple pressures can act in a non-additive manner on biodiversity (Stevens, 2006). In addition, studies on the effects of global change have largely focused on responses in organism physiology, population size or on community metrics such as species richness, but knowledge about their effects on conditions for biotic interactions in the novel communities is scarce (Tylianakis et al., 2008). Yet, biotic interactions form an indispensable basis for the functioning of ecosystems and the provision of ecosystem services. Thus, the consideration of the effects of multiple interacting drivers of global change on biotic interactions (Ibáñez et al., 2006; Elzinga et al., 2007) represents a significant challenge for predicting the future consequences of global change (Tylianakis et al., 2008).

The effects of drivers acting in combination on biotic interactions can be highly complex and impact trophic levels or species groups differently (Walther, 2010). To deal with the complexities of multiple interactions in diverse species communities, and to obtain a high level of detail, we focus on two major drivers of global change, climate change and alien species, and their interactive effects on pollination. Species-specific responses to various components of climate change have the potential to cause temporal, spatial, or functional shifts in the composition of species assemblages that affect species interactions (Harrington, Woiwod & Sparks, 1999; Traveset & Richardson, 2006; Menéndez *et al.*, 2008; Schweiger *et al.*, 2008).

We define alien species as taxa that are new to a region and have established self-maintaining populations in the wild as a result of their introduction *via* direct human activities (cf. Richardson *et al.*, 2000; Pyšek *et al.*, 2004). They can thereby impact ecological interactions that have established over evolutionary time scales, cause the loss of biodiversity, and alter the structure and function of whole ecosystems (Levine *et al.*, 2003; MacDougall & Turkington, 2005; Vilà *et al.*, 2010). In addition, the colonisation, establishment and survival of alien species can be modified by climate change (Walther *et al.*, 2009). This may subsequently alter the network of existing species interactions which may lead to unanticipated effects on ecosystems (Tylianakis *et al.*, 2008). It is therefore crucial to consider the impact of biological invasions in the light of climate change.

In this review, we focus on pollination since it is a key ecosystem function and a basis for the maintenance of biodiversity (Kremen, 2005; Balvanera, Kremen & Martinez-Ramos, 2005). In addition, pollination is one of the best-studied ecosystem services in terms of understanding qualitative links between provider and beneficiary and this facilitates the investigation of interactive impacts of invasions and climate change. An estimated 60-80% of wild plants and 35% of global crop production depends on animal pollination (Kearns, Inouye & Waser, 1998; Ashman et al., 2004; Klein et al., 2007). However, concerns about the loss of pollinators have grown (Kearns et al., 1998; Steffan-Dewenter, Potts & Packer, 2005), and parallel declines in bee species richness and insect-pollinated plants indicate a potential reduction in pollination services and/or in available flower resources for flower-visiting insects (Biesmeijer et al., 2006). While reviews have attempted to assess the separate impacts of climate change (Hegland et al., 2009) and species invasions



Fig. 1. Indirect effects of climate change (thick arrows) on interactions (thin arrows a-f) within a simplified pollination network of alien and native plants and pollinators. Dark grey arrows, negative effects; light grey arrows, positive effects; white arrow, no effects.

(Bjerknes *et al.*, 2007; Morales & Traveset, 2009) on native plant–pollinator networks, relatively little is known about the potential combined effects of these two environmental drivers (Tylianakis *et al.*, 2008).

Here we propose a framework for the assessment of how these two drivers interact to affect plant-pollinator interactions (Fig. 1). In particular we identify climate-changesensitive mechanisms for different pairwise interactions. We start with interaction mechanisms of native plants and pollinators (arrow a in Fig. 1), followed by a review of effects of alien species within trophic levels (arrows b and c in Fig. 1) and across trophic levels (arrows d and e in Fig. 1). We then condense knowledge about more complex indirect interactions across corresponding trophic levels (i.e. plantpollinator-plant, arrows e-a in Fig. 1; and pollinator-plantpollinator, arrows d-a in Fig. 1), and finally we investigate interactions between alien plants and pollinators (arrow f in Fig. 1). For all these mechanisms of interactions we assess potential effects of climate change and derive hypotheses that may form the basis of future research (Tables 1-4).

II. CLIMATE-CHANGE EFFECTS ON PLANT–POLLINATOR INTERACTIONS

Recent global warming is known to have altered existing species interactions by either addition or loss of species from local plant and animal assemblages (Parmesan, 2006; Hegland *et al.*, 2009). The consequences for pollination mutualisms are complex but one clear expectation is the disruption of ecological matches such as spatial and temporal synchronicity of occurrence (Parmesan, 2006; Memmott *et al.*, 2007; Hegland *et al.*, 2009), or morphological and physiological interdependencies (Bond, 1994; Corbet, 2000).

Temporal mismatches are increasingly well documented for species interactions in general (Parmesan, 2006) and for plant-insect interactions in particular (Visser & Both, 2005; Memmott *et al.*, 2007; Both *et al.*, 2009) and have recently been reviewed by Hegland et al. (2009). Under climate warming, flowering periods (e.g. Fitter & Fitter, 2002; Badeck et al., 2004; Menzel et al., 2006) and/or flight times may initiate earlier and/or last longer (e.g. Roy & Sparks, 2000) but plant and insect phenology may respond to different environmental cues or different thresholds of the same cue and thus may not respond equally to climate change (Visser & Both, 2005; Both et al., 2009). Although many plant-insect interactions have a long evolutionary history and have been maintained through a range of natural climate cycles in the past, synchrony may be lost due to the relative speed of anthropogenic climate change (Yurk & Powell, 2009). For plant-herbivore systems, the general pattern seems to be that insect phenologies advance more than plant phenologies (Visser & Both, 2005; Both et al., 2009). This was also observed for two pollinator species (Apis mellifera L. and *Pieris rapae* L.) and their preferred forage plants on the Iberian Peninsula (Gordo & Sanz, 2005; reviewed in Hegland et al., 2009). The occurrence of A. mellifera changed from about 10 days later than the flowering of crucial host plants to about 25 days earlier during the last 30 years, while the advancement was not so drastic for P. rapae (5 days later compared to 15 days earlier; Table 1).

Climate change may also affect co-occurrences of plant and pollinator species in space. Range shifts in plants (e.g. Thuiller *et al.*, 2008; Lenoir *et al.*, 2008; Pompe *et al.*, 2008) and pollinators (e.g. Parmesan, 1996; Parmesan *et al.*, 1999; Menéndez *et al.*, 2007; Wilson *et al.*, 2007; Settele *et al.*, 2008) are documented and projected, but it is likely that current species distribution overlaps will not remain the same (Table 1). Schweiger *et al.* (2008), for instance, modelled the climatic niche for the butterfly *Boloria titania* Esper and its larval host plant *Polygonum bistorta* L. and found that the overlap of their climatic niches will be considerably reduced under future projected climate change scenarios. These local disruptions of rather basic trophic interactions may well apply to other more complex interactions such as pollination.

Climate change may also affect morphological and physiological matching of plant and pollinator species. Successful pollination of a particular plant is often determined by the appropriateness of pollinator morphological characteristics, e.g. tongue length, while a particular pollinator can forage profitably only on plants that offer adequate and accessible rewards, e.g. pollen or nectar (Corbet, 2000). Consequently, associations between pollinator body size and plant functional type have been reported (Bond, 1994; Corbet, 2000). Such size-dependencies are a likely result of pollinator-mediated selection processes (Steiner, Whitehead & Johnson, 1994; Johnson & Steiner, 1997). Species-specific flower size, for instance, has been shown to increase along an elevation gradient (Malo & Baonza, 2002; Herrera, 2005) and is correlated with the average body size of the pollinator community (Malo & Baonza, 2002). Malo & Baonza (2002) argue that Bergman's rule applies to insect pollinators with larger body sizes at higher altitudes and latitudes as a response to lower temperatures (but see Hawkins, 1995; Hawkins & DeVries,

Climate change affects:	Indication	Consequences	Indication	Hypothesis
phenology of plants and pollinators	Phenological changes reported ¹	Disrupted temporal matching	Phenologies of pollinators advance more than plant phenologies ²	Partial or full uncoupling of pollinator flight period and flower blooming
spatial distribution of plants and pollinators	Distributional changes reported ¹	Disrupted spatial matching	Potential co-occurrence of a butterfly and its larval host plant is projected to be reduced ³	Increased or full mismatching in pollinator and plant ranges
pollinator body size distribution	Bergman's rule may apply to insect pollinators ⁴	Disrupted morphological matching	Associations between pollinator body size and plant functional type ^{5,6}	Pollen limitation because of mismatching in (size-dependent) pollinator and plant morphology
nectar quantity and quality	Sucrose content changes with temperature ⁷	Disrupted energetic matching	Pollinator behaviour is affected by sucrose content ⁸	Pollen limitation because of lowered nectar quantity and quality
pollinator energy demand	Metabolic rates increase with temperature ⁹	Disrupted energetic matching	Sucrose content changes with temperature ⁷	Increased energy demands of small pollinators can not be fully compensated by nectar production in increasingly hotter and dryer regions
	Flight metabolic rate decreases with increasing temperature ¹⁰	Eased energetic matching	Crop loading and foraging behaviour affected by temperature ¹⁰	Large pollinators can spend more time on foraging when cooler regions get warmer
plant community structure	ure Changes reported ¹	Conditions of competition for pollinators change	Decreased pollinator availability for a particular plant ¹¹	Pollen limitation because of decreased plant attractiveness
		Facilitative structure changes	Increased pollinator availability for a particular plant ^{12,13}	Decreased pollen limitation because of increased pollinator availability
pollinator community structure	Changes reported ¹	Pollination effectiveness changes	Plant species richness depends on functional diversity and complementarity of pollinators ^{14,15}	Pollen limitation when functional diversity or complementarity of pollinators is decreased

Table 1. Climate-change effects on species and communities, potential consequences for plant-pollinator interactions, and derived hypotheses. For potentially contradicting evidence see text. Indication provides evidence from literature given as superscripts

References: 1, Parmesan (2006); 2, Gordo & Sanz (2005); 3, Schweiger *et al.* (2008); 4, Malo & Baonza (2002); 5, Bond (1994); 6, Corbet (2000); 7, Petanidou & Smets (1996); 8, Golubov *et al.* (1999); 9, Gillooly *et al.* (2001); 10, Afik & Shafir (2007); 11, Palmer *et al.* (2003); 12, Moeller (2004); 13, Molina-Montenegro *et al.*(2008); 14, Fontaine *et al.* (2006); 15, Fleming *et al.* (2001).

1996). These large-bodied pollinators may in turn select for large flowers. Furthermore, Johnson, Delph & Elderkin (1995) demonstrated decreased pollination success when petal size of *Campanula americana* L. was artificially reduced indicating high interrelation of flower size and a given pollinator community. These evolutionary relationships are not always so straightforward. Mayfield, Waser & Price (2001) demonstrated that *Ipomopsis aggregata* (Pursh) V. Grant is seemingly adapted to hummingbirds while the most efficient but less reliable pollinators are long-tongued bumblebees. They conclude that an optimally specialised floral morphology is not always achievable and that particular constraints favour at least some degree of generalisation. However, global-warming-induced shifts in the body size

distributions of local pollinator communities to smaller sizes, according to Bergman's rule, may lead in many cases to a mismatch in pollinator and plant morphology and reduced pollination. This will particularly apply to plant species with specialised flower morphologies that restrict the body-size ranges of potential pollinators (Table 1).

There is no corresponding evidence that flower size will be influenced directly by changes in climate but the adequacy and accessibility of nectar reward may change considerably with changing temperature and water supply (Willmer & Corbet, 1981). Nectar secretion can be reduced by water stress, and analysis of the percentage of sucrose in the nectar of the Mediterranean plant *Thymus capitatus* (L.) Hoffmanns. & Link revealed a hump-shaped relationship effects of climate change

the recent rapid spread

honeybees discussed as

may be diminished⁵

Climatic conditions halt

of Africanized

honevbees^{7,8}

reported¹⁰

Translocation of

sources of new

Virulence depends on

temperature^{14,15}

pathogens¹²

distribution of alien plants Distributional changes

distributional potential of

domesticated alien

distribution of pathogens

and their vectors

virulence of pathogens

even favours alien

plants

pollinators

hypotheses. For potentially contradicting evidence see text. Indication provides evidence from literature given as superscripts					
Climate change affects:	Indication	Consequence	Indication	Hypothesis	
domesticated alien pollinators less than native specialists	Domesticated alien pollinators are generalists with broad niches ¹ and effects of climate change may be diminished ²	Relative competitive ability of domesticated alien pollinators may increase	Range of generalist butterfly species increased during climate change while specialists decreased ³	Impact of domesticated alien pollinators will increase	
some alien plants less than native specialists or	Invasive alien plants are highly competitive ⁴ and	Relative competitive ability of alien plants	Some alien plants are successful in novel	Impact of some alien plants will increase	

communities and novel

European honeybees by

Africanised honeybees⁶

Hybridisation between

Honeybee viruses easily

expand to multiple

Honeybee viruses easily

expand to multiple

native and alien

climates⁶

plants¹¹

hosts¹³

hosts¹³

Hybridisation and

replacement of

Table 2. Direct effects of alien species within trophic levels in response to climate change, potential consequences and domined hypotheses. For potentially contradicting e

may increase

pools

pools

Transmission of

pollinators

Introgression of invasive

Introgression of invasive

genes into local gene

pathogens to native

Altered transmission of

native pollinators

genes into local gene

References: 1, Goulson (2003); 2, Lodge (1993); 3, Warren et al. (2001); 4, Vilà & Weiner (2004); 5, Baker (1974); 6, Vetaas (2002); 7
Sheppard et al. (1991); 8, Diniz et al. (2003); 9, Kraus et al. (2007); 10, Walther et al. (2009); 11, Daehler & Carino (2001); 12, Cox-Foster
et al. (2008); 13, Eyer et al. (2009); 14, Martín-Hernández et al. (2009); 15, García-Fernández et al. (1995).

parasites and diseases to

with temperature; an initial increase until 32.5°C with a sharp decrease above 38°C (Petanidou & Smets, 1996). Although average temperatures may reach such a threshold only under the most severe climate-change scenario (Christensen et al., 2007), increasing frequencies and amplitudes of climatic extremes, which can easily go far beyond this threshold, could be of particular concern (Easterling et al., 2000). Sugar concentration and the resulting viscosity of nectar (Vogel, 1983) impact the energy intake rate of pollinators, which is optimal at intermediate concentration levels (Borrell, 2007), and thus affect pollinator behaviour such as visitation frequency and time spent foraging (Golubov et al., 1999). After a potential initial positive effect of increasing temperatures on sucrose content in the nectar, overly hot and arid conditions in the Mediterranean may shift nectar volume and viscosity to sub-optimal levels for nectar-feeding pollinators which can in turn impact pollination success (Table 1).

Climate change may also affect thermal budgets, energy demands and water balance of the pollinators. Large and dark-coloured bees warm up (and cool down) faster than small and light-coloured bees (Pereboom & Biesmeijer, 2003). This results in differences in resource exploitation and might lead to shifts in pollinator assemblages with increasing temperatures (Pereboom & Biesmeijer, 2003). Metabolic rates of exothermic species usually increase with temperature (Gillooly et al., 2001). In addition, an insect's water balance has been shown to be important for pollination (Willmer, 1988). The combination of higher metabolic rates leading to greater pollinator water demands and more viscous nectar will thus pose significant constraints on the foraging time of small pollinators (Table 1). By contrast, flight metabolic rate of larger endothermic insects, such as honeybees, decreases with increasing temperature (Afik & Shafir, 2007; Table 1). Thus in cooler regions, such species may be able to spend more time foraging when temperatures are rising (Table 1).

III. INDIRECT EFFECTS OF CLIMATE CHANGE: THE EMERGENCE OF NOVEL COMMUNITIES

Individualistic responses by plants and pollinators to climate change both spatially and temporally as well as the local extinction of native species (Section II) and the introduction of alien species (Sections IV, V, VI) will ultimately lead to the generation of novel biotic communities (Ohlemüller et al., 2006; Hobbs et al., 2006; Williams & Jackson, 2007). Palaeological records of lateglacial plant and insect communities show that this has already been the case (Williams & Jackson, 2007), and considerations about dissimilarities between current and future climates indicate high potential for novel climates (Williams, Jackson & Kutzbacht, 2007) and thus novel

Subspecies of native

go extinct

alien hosts

increased

pollinators go extinct

Subspecies of native plants

Native pollinators suffer

pathogens than the

Pathogen pressure will be

regionally lowered or

more from (alien)

Alien species affect:	Indication	Consequence	Indication	Hypothesis
functional pollinator community composition	nal pollinator Domesticated alien munity pollinators integrate position into native plant-pollinator communities ¹	Increased compensatory ability	Domesticated alien pollinators augment or rescue pollination services in habitat fragments ^{2,3}	Alien pollinators partly compensate and sustain pollination services
		Decreased compensatory ability	Domesticated alien pollinators could lack specialist morphology ⁴	Alien pollinators may not compensate for morphological and behavioural mismatches
			Domesticated alien pollinators favour highly rewarding plant populations ^{5,6}	Alien pollinators may not compensate for energetic mismatches
		Altered pollination mode and success	Domesticated alien pollinators may stay longer at inflorescences ⁷ but also move frequently between different species ⁸	Increased proportion of alien pollinators increases the probability of selfing and/or hybridisation
functional plant community composition	Enthomophilous alien plants integrate into native plant–pollinator communities ⁹	Increased compensatory ability	Alien plant <i>Impatiens</i> glandulifera facilitates short- and long-term survival of native bumblebees when native nectar sources are scarce ^{10,11}	Alien plants partly compensate and sustain resource availability

Table 3. Direct effects of alien species across trophic levels, potential consequences, and derived hypotheses with respect to climate change. For potentially contradicting effects see text. Indication provides evidence from literature given as superscripts

References: 1, Goulson (2003); 2, Dick (2001); 3, Gross (2001); 4, Vaughton (1996); 5, Eickwort & Ginsberg (1980); 6, Sowig (1989); 7, Dupont *et al.* (2004); 8, Brown & Mitchell (2001); 9, Bartomeus, Vilà & Santamaría (2008); 10, Starý & Tkalcù (1998); 11, Kleijn & Raemakers (2008).

communities in the future (Ohlemüller et al., 2006; Williams & Jackson, 2007; Walther, 2010). These novel communities may be characterised by a lack of potentially co-evolved interactions but also by the potential for new interactions (Fig. 2). Given the fundamental niche of a species, potential interactions are restricted to cases of overlap with the fundamental niches of other species. Not all of these interactions can be realised under the given climatic conditions, i.e. the overlap of the fundamental niches of two species may lie outside the current climate. But when climate changes, these former potential interactions can become possible while others may vanish (Fig. 2A,B). The longterm ecological consequences of such community changes for plant-pollinator interactions are still hard to predict. For instance, changes in plant community composition can decrease pollinator availability for a particular plant species via changed conditions for competition (Section VI.3; Campbell, 1985; reviewed in Palmer, Stanton & Young, 2003; Table 1).

On the other hand, changes in plant community structure under climate change may also have beneficial effects on pollinator availability *via* facilitation among co-occurring plant species (Table 1). Although we are not aware of studies on the effects of climate change on facilitation, there are several that indicate facilitative effects in changed communities (Section VI.3). Moeller (2004) showed that the number of visiting bees increased and pollen limitation decreased when the annual herb, *Clarkia xantiana* Gray ssp. *xantiana*, occurred together with ecologically similar congeners. Molina-Montenegro, Badano & Cavieres (2008) confirmed that both pollinator visitation rates and seed output of a less attractive plant (*Carduus pycnocephalus* L.) increased when grown together with a more attractive plant (*Lupinus arboreus* L.).

Antagonistic species, such as herbivores or seed predators, may shift under climate warming with potential ecological and evolutionary consequences (Section VII) for the mutualistic plant–pollinator interactions (Toräng, Ehrlén & Agren, 2008). In a study on the perennial bumblebeepollinated alpine herb *Polemonium viscosum* Nutt. at different altitudes, Galen & Cuba (2001) demonstrated shifts in floral shape at lower altitudes where flower-damaging ants are present. Such changes in antagonistic and mutualistic interactions may have consequences for the reproductive success of the pollinated plants as well as for the pollinating bumblebees. Although difficult to predict, it is important to recognise that climate warming can lead to systemic shifts in antagonistic and mutualistic interactions.

Alien species affect:	Indication	Consequence	Indication	Hypothesis
floral resource availability	High level of resource overlap between domesticated alien and native pollinators ^{1,2}	Increased competition	Reduced reproductive success and body size of native pollinators ^{3,4}	Reduced plant diversity increases resource competition among alien and native pollinators
pollinator availability	ability High attractiveness of many enthomophilous alien plants ⁵	Increased competition	Reduced pollinator visitation rate and seed set ^{6,7}	Reduced pollinator diversity increases competition for pollinators and pollen limitation
		Increased facilitation	Magnet species attract additional pollinators ^{5,8}	Increased diversity of alien plants increases visitation rates and decreases risk of pollen limitation
			Competition and facilitation effects are density dependent ⁹	Indirect effects of alien plants vary regionally
pollen deposition	Alien plants increase deposition of heterospecific pollen ¹⁰	Stigma clogging	Reduced seed set in spite of increased visitation rates ¹⁰	Increased diversity and abundance of alien plants increases pollen limitation

Table 4. Indirect effects of alien species across trophic levels, potential consequences, and derived hypotheses with respect to climate change. For potentially contradicting effects see text. Indication provides evidence from literature given as superscripts

Changes in the pollinator community in the course of climate change also might affect pollination effectiveness in some plant species (Section VI.3). In a recent consensus of current knowledge, Hooper et al. (2005) agreed that species' functional characteristics strongly influence ecosystem properties, and Lavorel et al. (1997) suggest that the effects of changes in pollinator communities might be more related to changes in functional groups than to species composition. Fontaine et al. (2006) experimentally demonstrated a positive relationship between the functional diversity of pollinators and plant species richness and highlight the importance of functional diversity for the maintenance of pollination. Furthermore, even if pollination of a particular plant is provided by several species and/or functional groups, pollination can be affected by the loss of single species, as can be expected under climate change, when these species act in a complementary rather than in a compensatory way (Fleming et al., 2001; Table 1).

Novel communities will not be random assemblages of species since generalist species tend to be less affected or may even profit from climate change or the presence of novel species, while many specialists may suffer (Section IV; Warren *et al.*, 2001; Menéndez *et al.*, 2006; Pompe *et al.*, 2008; Settele *et al.*, 2008). In addition to a simple reduction of climatically suitable area, the likelihood of ecological mismatches will increase with increasing specialisation of interaction between plant and pollinator (Fig. 2C,D). This is supported by studies on plants (Thuiller *et al.*, 2005; Broennimann *et al.*, 2006) as well as on pollinators (Kotiaho

et al., 2005; Williams, Araujo & Rasmont, 2007) which found increased vulnerability of species with narrow niches to climate change. These pronounced differences between specialist and generalist species in their response to climate change, and the likelihood that novel communities will be mainly dominated by generalist species (Warren et al., 2001), is of particular importance to understanding impacts of climate change and alien species on pollination.

IV. ALIEN VS. NATIVE POLLINATORS: DIFFERENCES IN SPECIES TRAITS AND RESPONSE TO CLIMATE

Climate change will affect both the relative performance of already established alien pollinators and the establishment of new taxa both of which may play important roles in future communities (Memmott *et al.*, 2007). While 90% of alien invertebrates in Europe were introduced unintentionally, most introductions of alien pollinators were by intention (Roques *et al.*, 2009). Most accounts of alien pollinators involve domesticated bees (Goulson, 2003), whilst other non-commercially used alien pollinators are little studied. Thus, for this review we will focus on the former group of domesticated alien pollinators which is comprised mainly by colony-forming social bees (the honeybee *Apis mellifera*; European bumblebees: *Bombus terrestris* L., *B. ruderatus* Fabricius, *B. hortorum* L.) but also

References: 1, Thomson (2006); 2, Matsumura et al. (2004); 3, Thomson (2004); 4, Goulson & Sparrow (2009); 5, Lopezaraiza-Mikel et al. (2007); 6, Chittka & Schürkens (2001); 7, Brown et al. (2002); 8, Molina-Montenegro et al. (2008), 9, Muñoz & Cavieres (2008); 10, Grabas & Laverty (1999).



Fig. 2. Schematic diagram showing how community changes in the course of climate change may lead to disruptions of existing and generation of novel species interactions. The fundamental niches of three species (Sp 1-3) in a twodimensional niche space are shown as coloured ellipses. Present (A,C) and future (B,D) climatic conditions are represented as open ellipses. Present-day interactions are restricted to cases where the fundamental niches of two species overlap and where these overlaps are realised within the current environmental conditions (Sp 1 and 2 in A). When climatic conditions change, current interactions can be disrupted but potentially new ones can be realised (Sp and 3 in B). These patterns will depend on the degree of specialisation. The likelihood of novel interactions will be larger for generalist species with large fundamental niches (Sp 1 in A,B) compared to specialist species with restricted fundamental niches (Sp 1 in C,D). Modified after Williams & Jackson (2007).

by some solitary bees (e.g. *Megachile rotundata* Fabricius and *Nomia melanderi* Cockerell; see Goulson, 2003). This group represents a non-random sample of pollinators with a set of common traits which generally facilitate commercial use and might thus also characterise common responses to climate change.

In particular, domesticated alien pollinators tend to be both social and generalist species with broad niches (Goulson, 2003) and thus may not be sensitive to climate change and resulting ecological mismatches (Fig. 2A,B). There is no reason to assume that alien social generalist species are superior to native social generalists under climate change. However, their importance lies in the comparison with the multitude of native specialist and/or solitary species which might be more affected by climate change (Fig. 2C,D). Thus, potential negative effects of alien pollinators are not necessarily a consequence of their alien status but can rather be attributed to their generalist and social lifestyle. In the following we will discuss effects of alien pollinators within the frame of differential response of social and generalist *vs.* solitary and specialist species.

At least three consequences of climate change may provide social and generalist pollinators (such as Apis spp. and Bombus spp.) with an advantage in inter-specific competition with solitary or specialised pollinators. Firstly, social domesticated pollinators, notably Apis mellifera, are widespread, have long foraging seasons and are likely to be phenologically more flexible than some solitary, especially univoltine, species, which are often restricted to narrow activity windows (Wcislo & Cane, 1996). Consequently, social generalists may suffer less from temporal mismatches and so can extend their active season and build up and maintain populations more easily than solitary and more specialised pollinators. Secondly, social and generalist pollinators often have broader diets due to extended flight season and range of worker body sizes (e.g. Bombus spp.; Goulson, 2003) and hence are less likely to experience complete temporal and spatial mismatches with their food plants than diet specialists. Thirdly, Apis and Bombus species tend to do relatively well in environments with spatially variable resource patches as longer flight ranges (Greenleaf et al., 2007) and recruitment behaviour (Apis spp.) allow much more efficient exploitation of forage (Steffan-Dewenter & Kuhn, 2003; Westphal, Steffan-Dewenter & Tscharntke, 2006). In addition, the large amount of workers of social bee colonies enables optimisation of egg production and food intake (Stevens, Hogendoorn & Schwarz, 2007). Taken together, efficient forage, predictable food intake and parental care enhances reproductive fitness of social bees compared to solitary insects (e.g. Smith, Weislo & O'Donnell, 2003). Further, the ability to store food reserves allows the colony to survive periods of inclement weather or periods of sparse floral reward availability. Consequently, climate change and the predicted increased variability in precipitation and evapotranspiration (Christensen et al., 2007) will affect domesticated social generalist bees and thus most alien pollinators much less than most of the solitary specialist predominantly native pollinators (Table 2).

V. ALIEN VS. NATIVE PLANTS: DIFFERENCES IN SPECIES TRAITS AND RESPONSE TO CLIMATE

Similar to domesticated alien pollinators, alien plants also represent a non-random sample of plant species, and common traits related to their invasion success may be relevant when it comes to the assemblage of future novel communities. Superior competitive ability is one of the most common mechanisms invoked to explain why alien plant species increase in local abundance at the expense of native plant assemblages (Vilà & Weiner, 2004; but see Daehler, 2003), and these interactions are potentially influenced by climate change (Brooker, 2006; Walther et al., 2009; Table 2). Traits that can confer an advantage under any type of climate change are also related to high alien species invasiveness and include (1) high growth rate, (2) wide climatic or environmental tolerance, (3) high dispersal ability, and (4) increased potential for rapid microevolutionary changes and corresponding adaptation to

changing conditions (e.g. Kolar & Lodge, 2001; Grotkopp, Rejmánek & Rost, 2002; Kühn, Brandenburg & Klotz, 2004*a*; Pyšek & Richardson, 2007).

Increasing temperature and decreasing precipitation have already increased the colonisation potential of some alien plant species *via* increased growth rate. For example, the alien grass *Poa pratensis* L. has colonised Antarctica due to higher survival and growth rate as a response to lengthening of the growing season; it was recorded for the first time in 1944 (Smith, 1996).

Tolerance to a wide range of climates and long-lived seed banks are an advantage in an ecosystem with increasing probability of climatic extremes but as yet there is no evidence that alien species exhibit these traits any more than native species (Vilà et al., 2006). It is intuitive that where alien plants are currently strongly constrained by climate (e.g. by frost sensitivity) that they may benefit from rising average temperatures (e.g. Hanspach et al., 2008; several examples in Walther et al., 2009). In northern temperate regions, many alien species come from warmer areas (Pyšek et al., 2003; Walther et al., 2007; Hulme, 2009) and thus may be particularly sensitive to low temperatures but also predisposed to surviving increasing temperatures and drought. Established alien species have been shown to benefit more from singular drought periods when they are more resilient to limited water availability or suboptimal environmental conditions (Vilà et al., 2006). Yet such pre-adaptation to warmer environments may be less significant in the dynamics of the species than their response to land-use change and eutrophication (Hulme, 2009).

Possession of an efficient dispersal mechanism is an advantage where species must keep up with any spatial changes to their optimal climate space (Ohlemüller et al., 2006; Thuiller et al., 2008). However, in a recent study on the ability of nine plant species to achieve long-distance colonisation of a remote arctic archipelago, Alsos et al. (2007) found that wind and drifting sea ice repeatedly transported propagules from several source regions across large distances. They conclude that long-distance dispersal is quite frequent and that establishment limits distribution more than dispersal, at least in the Arctic and in the long term. However, the short-term nature of current climate change might increase the importance of high dispersal capacities. Widespread alien species often possess efficient dispersal mechanisms either using wind or animals to spread seed over long distances (Lloret et al., 2005; Pyšek & Richardson, 2007; Dawson, Burslem & Hulme, 2009). Moreover, a recent study by Niggemann et al. (2009) found that alien species benefit more from human dispersal than native species, showing that better natural dispersal ability of alien species may further be amplified by humans, making them more efficient in tracking climate change. Potential sources for spread of alien species are cities which tend to have a warmer climate than surrounding regions (Landsberg, 1981) and are generally rich in alien species (Pyšek, 1998; Kühn, Brandl & Klotz, 2004b). Yet the available evidence indicates rather limited

spread of alien species from urban areas in the UK over the last 20 years (Botham *et al.*, 2009).

An increased potential for rapid microevolutionary adaptation (see Section VII) may also increase competitive ability of alien plants. For instance, data by Barney, Whitlow and DiTommaso (2009) suggest that since its introduction to North America, *Artemisia vulgaris* L. has evolved a more competitive invasive phenotype, allowing establishment and subsequent dominance in dense stands of existing vegetation. One may expect that potential native competitors, when they are not able to adapt so fast, will either suffer increasingly from changed conditions or even become locally extinct.

In addition to the possible differential impact of climate change on interactions between alien and native plants, the performance of native and alien plant species also depends on community-level processes. Climate change has the potential to shift functional and species dominances in ecosystems (see Section III). Thus, even ecosystems with a currently minor alien component might be converted, under future climate change, to a system dominated by the functional makeup of the alien species already present while competitive hierarchies may be altered (Brooker, 2006).

VI. ALIEN SPECIES: THREAT OR BUFFER WHEN CLIMATE CHANGES?

Effects of alien species may be disentangled into (1) direct effects within trophic levels (plant-plant, pollinator-pollinator; arrows b and c in Fig. 1), (2) direct effects across trophic levels (plant-pollinator and *vice versa*; arrows d and e in Fig. 1), and (3) indirect effects *via* the corresponding trophic level (plant-pollinator-plant, pollinator-plant-pollinator; arrows e-a and d-a in Fig. 1). Their relevance for plant-pollinator interactions will differ markedly.

(1) Direct effects within trophic levels

Besides altered community structure and competitive conditions, other mechanisms of interaction are likely to alter due to climate change. For instance, species introduction and range expansion can result in the introgression of alien genes into local gene pools, which can lead to the extinction of local (sub-) species (Table 2). Studies on dilution of local gene pools and gene replacement in native pollinator populations are scarce. However, the impact of the invasive Africanized honeybee in South America (introduced in the 1950s in Brazil), which has now largely replaced feral and managed European honeybees (repeatedly introduced since the 1500s; Kraus, Franck & Vandame, 2007), may serve as an example. Africanized honeybees have expanded rapidly since first introductions but seem to have come to a halt due to climatic constraints (Sheppard et al., 1991; Diniz et al., 2003). However, they can be expected to expand further as a result of climate warming.

Hybridisation has been shown to be an important mechanism of evolution of invasive plant species (Abbott, 1992; Vilà, Weber & D'Antonio, 2000; Ellstrand & Schierenbeck, 2000) and many widespread and successful invaders are recently formed allopolyploid hybrids (Lee, 2002). Invasive plants may evolve by interspecific hybridisation in the introduced range that creates novel genotypes (Bossdorf *et al.*, 2005). Hybridization often has a positive effect on alien species, but also a strong negative impact on natives. Genetic hazard to native populations results from hybridization between alien and native species, which has been demonstrated to affect the genetic composition of the latter (Love & Feigen, 1978; Daehler & Carino, 2001; Table 2).

Alien pollinators may also spread parasites and diseases to native (sub-)species where they may cause serious declines. Translocations of honeybees and therewith also of pathogens are currently debated as one of the reasons for the recently observed honeybee colony collapse disorder (Watanabe, 2008; Anderson & East, 2008; Cox-Foster *et al.*, 2008). However, little is known about the potential for interand intra-specific transfer of pathogens in bee communities, though evidence is accumulating that the extent and role of shared pathogens has been underestimated (Woolhouse, Taylor & Haydon, 2001). It seems that honeybee viruses easily expand to multiple hosts (e.g. Eyer *et al.*, 2009) and are thus likely to infect native bees (Gilliam, Lorenz & Buchmann, 1994; Stout & Morales, 2009; Table 2).

As with honeybee colony collapse disorder, where no particular pathogen or driver of mortality can be identified as responsible (Cox-Foster et al., 2007), a virulent interaction of transferred pests, diseases and other environmental threats such as climate change may also have serious consequences for native bees. Climate change may, for instance, alter pathogen virulence (Table 2). The two microsporidian bee pathogens Nosema apis Zander and N. *ceranae* Fries *et al.* have their temperature optimum at 33°C while their virulence is markedly reduced at lower $(25^{\circ}C)$ and higher (37°C) temperatures (Martín-Hernández et al., 2009). Further, the reproductive biology of the ectoparasitic, virus-transmitting mite Varroa destructor Anderson and Trueman also depends on ambient temperature and phenology of the vegetation. García-Fernández, Rodriguez and Orantesbermejo (1995) reported that population growth is faster in the Mediterranean climate (Spain) compared to temperate climate and that infestation rates are increased with a prolonged flowering period. Climate warming may thus affect the distribution, seasonality and severity of diseases (Le Conte & Navajas, 2008) and therewith the potential for intra- and inter-specific transfer (Table 2).

(2) Direct effects across trophic levels

Across trophic levels, alien species can generally be considered as additional resources having the potential to compensate for ecological mismatches in the course of climate change. Generalist alien pollinators often integrate into native plant–pollinator networks and they can improve pollination services to native plant species, especially in species-poor islands (Goulson, 2003). Thus, alien pollinators might be able partly to compensate climate-change-induced spatial and temporal mismatches within native plant-pollinator networks and therefore sustain pollination services (Table 3).

However, such compensatory effects are probably not evenly distributed across species, environments and pollination networks and will not guarantee pollination success for all plant species. For instance, morphological mismatching is not likely to be compensated for by domesticated alien pollinators since generalist alien pollinators could lack specialist pollinator morphology (e.g. tongue length) or behaviour (e.g. buzz pollination) and are thus less efficient at pollinating plants with more complex morphologies than specialised native Pollinators (Vaughton, 1996; Hansen, Olesen & Jones, 2002; Table 3). Also, constraints due to reduced energetic reward or energetic mismatching might not be compensated for by domesticated alien pollinators, since they often have strong preferences for large, mass-flowering and highly rewarding food plant populations (Eickwort & Ginsberg, 1980; Sowig, 1989; Table 3).

In addition, an increasing proportion of alien pollinators could promote alterations in the genetic structure of food plant communities. Domesticated alien pollinators may stay longer at a particular inflorescence and thus can promote higher rates of self-pollination (Dupont *et al.*, 2004; Table 3). Furthermore, most domesticated alien pollinators are generally quite loyal to the plant species they visit at any one time, but nevertheless the observed frequent movements between different plant species can produce mixed-species pollen loads (Brown & Mitchell, 2001). This might interfere with native pollen deposition onto the stigma and is suggested to facilitate hybridisation with native plant congeners (Brown, Mitchell & Graham, 2002; Table 3).

Similar to alien pollinators, there is empirical evidence that enthomophilous alien plants are readily integrated into native plant-pollinator networks (Memmott & Waser, 2002; Lopezaraiza-Mikel et al., 2007; Stout, 2007; Bartomeus, Vilà & Santamaría, 2008), and might receive more visits from more pollinator species than any native plant species in the community (Vilà et al., 2009). Although reproductive traits such as clonal growth and abiotic pollination were positively related to alien plant invasion (Milbau & Stout, 2008), native pollinators can be of crucial importance, especially to obligate animal-pollinated plants with less attractive flowers. For instance, a study on the rapid-spreading alien shrub Cytisus scoparius L. in North America revealed a high impact of pollen limitation on seed-set (Parker, 1997). In a follow up study, Parker & Haubensak (2002) compared visitation rates and fruit production of C. scoparius and the closely related, co-occurring alien shrub Genista monspessulana (L.) L. Johnson. Genista monspessulana produced fewer pollen grains than C. scoparius (the only reward for insect visitors in both cases), and received fewer visitations. However, these differences in visitation rates were not reflected in differences

of fruit set although pollen limitation was evident for both plants. The importance of potential pollen limitation of alien plants is also supported by the finding that alien plants with longer flowering periods are more successful invaders (Lloret *et al.*, 2005; Pyšek & Richardson, 2007; Küster *et al.*, 2008). Thus, the speed of invasion of highly rewarding alien species that profit from climate change could be increased if also facilitated by native pollinators.

As with alien pollinators, alien plants may compensate for spatial and temporal mismatching in native plant-pollinator networks in the course of climate change by providing additional resources for native pollinators. Several studies have shown that pollinators are sensitive to the distribution of resources and are attracted to areas of high floral rewards (Nielsen & Ims, 2000; Potts et al., 2003; Westphal, Steffan-Dewenter & Tscharntke, 2003). Therefore, alien plants that produce showy floral displays and/or large rewards decrease the dependence of native pollinators on native plants and could make an invaded area able to sustain larger pollinator populations. Given that a significant proportion of alien plants are ornamental species selected for long flowering season, appealing scent or showy flowers (Lambdon, Lloret & Hulme, 2008a; Lambdon et al., 2008b) these facilitative interactions with native pollinators may be quite frequent (Table 3).

(3) Indirect effects *via* the corresponding trophic level

Most evidence of indirect effects of domesticated alien pollinators on native pollinators mediated via plants reflects resource competition rather than facilitation. A high level of resource overlap among domesticated alien pollinators and many native pollinators [up to 90% for Apis mellifera in California, USA (Thomson, 2006); up to 70% for Bombus terrestris in Hokkaido, Japan (Matsumura, Yokoyama & Washitani, 2004)] indicates high potential for competition. Yet, whether competition actually occurs and impacts population viability of native pollinators remains controversial. Several studies show no support for negative effects of domesticated alien pollinators (Steffan-Dewenter & Tscharntke, 2000; Roubik & Wolda, 2001; Paini, Williams & Roberts, 2005). However, such studies often rely on easily measured proxies such as niche overlap or correlations in abundance rather than more difficult but superior direct measures of reproductive success or population dynamics that can reveal otherwise undetected effects of competition (Thomson, 2006). Thomson (2004), for instance, found that proximity to experimentally introduced honeybee hives in North America reduced reproductive success of the native Bombus occidentalis Greene and suggests nectar scarcity as a potential reason. Similarly, in Scotland, Goulson & Sparrow (2009) found reduced body sizes of workers of four different native bumblebee species in areas with honeybees present. They further argue that reduced worker size is likely to have implications for bumblebee colony success, since smaller workers collect less food than their larger sisters leading to restrictions in food supply for the whole colony

In the context of climate change it is interesting that the level of competition, measured as resource overlap, seems to increase when floral resources are scarce (Thomson, 2006). Thus, if climate change leads to reduced plant diversity (Thuiller *et al.*, 2005; Pompe *et al.*, 2008) or potentially to reduced floral rewards (e.g. Petanidou & Smets, 1996; see Section II), negative effects of domesticated alien pollinators on native pollinators may increase *via* increased competition for floral resources (Table 4).

Positive, negative and neutral effects of alien plants on native plant–pollinator interactions and thus native plant pollination have been found (Bjerknes *et al.*, 2007; Table 4). Although negative effects seem to dominate, especially when flower colour and symmetry are similar between alien and native plant species (Morales & Traveset, 2009). The strength and direction of these effects are likely to be densitydependent (Morales & Traveset, 2009). It has been shown that low densities of the alien plant *Taraxacum officinale* group in the Andes act as a magnet to native pollinators that otherwise would not have visited patches of native species. On the other hand, high densities of the alien plant reduced pollinator visitation rates and seed output of neighbouring native species (Muñoz & Cavieres, 2008).

Reduced visitation rates are one source of pollen limitation of native plants, while another is the deposition of heterospecific pollen on native stigmas which may interfere with legitimate pollen transfer and fertilization success and, subsequently, reduce seed set (Bjerknes *et al.*, 2007; Table 4). Even when the presence of the alien plant *Lythrum salicaria* L. increased visitation rates of the native plant *Eupatorium maculatum* L. in North American wetlands, the seed set of *E. maculatum* decreased as a potential consequence of increased deposition of alien pollen (Grabas & Laverty, 1999). However, in most cases, even at high alien plant densities, alien pollen loads deposited on native stigmas by shared pollinators are too low to reduce reproduction by stigma clogging or saturation of stigmatic surfaces (Bartomeus, Bosch & Vilà, 2008; Tscheulin *et al.*, 2009).

Consequently, the effect of climate change on such indirect interactions seems to be context-dependent and can be expected to differ regionally. In regions where alien plant species are phenotypically similar to native plant species and dominate the provision of resources, the effects on native plant–pollinator interactions will be detrimental while in regions with little contribution of alien species native plant–pollinator communities may even profit from alien plants (Table 4).

(4) More complex interactions

Actually, interactions of native and alien plants and pollinators in the context of climate change are rather complex and involve feedback loops (Fig. 3). Most studies only address particular aspects, but the Himalayan annual plant *Impatiens glandulifera* Royle, alien to Europe, may serve



Fig. 3. Simplified interactions among the alien plant Impatiens glandulifera, native plants and native pollinators. Arrows indicate the consequences after invasion. Dark grey arrows, negative effects; light grey arrows, positive effects; dashed arrow, both positive and negative effects reported. Arrow thickness indicates the intensity of the effects. (a) Impatiens glandulifera invades and replaces native riparian plants. (b) Decreased plant diversity decreases pollinator diversity (potential loss of specialists). (c) I. glandulifera is self-compatible but still high visitation rates by generalist pollinators enhance seed set. (d) I. glandulifera represents an additional nectar source and may improve short- and long-term survival of generalist pollinators. (e) High attraction of *I. glandulifera* impedes pollination of native plants (potentially density dependent). (f) Native community impedes I. glandulifera invasion but to a much lesser extent than it is itself impacted through competition.

as a well-studied example with contrasting impacts on native plants and pollinators and their interactions (Fig. 3).

The direct effect of *I. glandulifera* on native vegetation is primarily through competition for microsites, soil resources and light that results in lower species richness (Hulme & Bremner, 2006) and altered plant community structure (Hejda & Pyšek, 2006; a in Fig. 3). These direct effects on the native vegetation are accompanied by indirect effects via pollinators (Fig. 3). Impatiens glandulifera was widely introduced as a nectar resource by beekeepers and has particularly high nectar secretion rates (~1.0 mg sugar h^{-1}) and as the nectar accumulates in the flowers, it is highly attractive to pollinators (Burquez & Corbet, 1991; Titze, 2000; Nienhuis, Dietzsch & Stout, 2009). Thus, I. glandulifera can act as an additional energy source and may facilitate short- and longterm survival of at least some generalist pollinators such as bumblebees (Starý & Tkalců, 1998; Kleijn & Raemakers, 2008). As a result, the richness of the pollinator fauna visiting native plants was increased when vegetation was invaded by I. glandulifera and native pollen transfer was higher for some taxa (Lopezaraiza-Mikel et al., 2007). However, while I. glandulifera may benefit species that almost exclusively utilise the nectar only, this may not be the case for species that require pollen sources (Titze, 2000). Besides positive effects on some pollinators, indirect negative effects of I. glandulifera on co-occurring native plants are also evident. For instance, pollinator visitation rates and subsequent seed set in the native Stachys palustris L. was reduced in the presence of I. glandulifera (Chittka & Schürkens, 2001). However, it is unclear how important a reduction in seed set will be for a self-compatible perennial plant, such as S. palustris, that is capable of vegetative reproduction and has a persistent seed bank (Hulme, 1996). As a species with particularly low nectar secretion rates (Comba et al., 1999) the response by S. *palustris* may also not be reflective of the flora as a whole.

How might climate change alter this scenario? Currently, there is no evidence that *Impatiens glandulifera* will perform any better or worse than other riparian species, but its annual habit, early germination, high leaf area index, reasonable tolerance of both light and shade, good seed dispersal, high fecundity, and potential for rapid adaptation to local environments may represent advantageous traits under changing conditions so as to maintain its high competitive ability. The species also benefits from longdistance dispersal through movement by humans of seeds for horticulture (Walker, Hulme & Hoelzel, 2009). Additionally, its extraordinarily high rate of sugar production may make I. glandulifera still a preferred nectar source and magnet to pollinators when drier conditions decrease general nectar production levels and drive some plants to suboptimal levels. Thus, the most parsimonious prediction is that the future performance of I. glandulifera will differ regionally, due to its high dependence on temperature (Willis & Hulme, 2002) and its particular sensitivity to drought (Beerling & Perrins, 1993). Thus while the northern range of this species may expand as it is released from the constraints of low temperatures, its southern range may contract as seasonal water deficits become more common. In regions where it is neither temperature nor water limited, the impact of I. glandulifera on the plant community will primarily be through direct replacement of native plant species rather than changes in plant-pollinator interactions. It will however play an important direct role in the foraging and survival of nectar-feeding pollinators but there is little evidence that the population dynamics of native riparian vegetation would become more pollinator-limited (Nienhuis et al., 2009).

(5) Invader complexes

Although alien pollinators often visit a wide range of plant species, they tend to preferentially visit alien plants (Stimec, ScottDupree & McAndrews, 1997; Olesen, Eskildsen & Venkatasamy, 2002; Goulson & Hanley, 2004), potentially forming "invader complexes" (Morales & Aizen, 2006). Alien pollinators can be important for the pollination of alien plant species (e.g. Stout, Kells & Goulson, 2002). These alien plants could, in turn, support alien pollinators by providing a food resource. This may result in positive feedback, enhancing and facilitating the invasion of both alien plants and pollinators.

All forms of mismatching quoted for native plant-pollinator interactions may in principle apply to these invader complexes too. On the other hand, since the effects of climate change may be diminished for both alien plants and pollinators (Baker, 1974; Lodge, 1993), such "invader complexes" may provide a buffer against ecological mismatches when communities are restructured. For instance, longer growing seasons will affect diapause and voltinism in some taxa, supporting additional generations of alien insects (Walther *et al.*, 2009). This could increase the potential for alien pollinators to pollinate alien plants in periods when native pollinators are not active, e.g. during winter in temperate areas, or in late summer when many native species have already finished flowering and alien plant species have filled that niche (Kato *et al.*, 1999; Celesti-Grapow, Di Marzio & Blasi, 2003; Küster *et al.*, 2009).

VII. RAPID EVOLUTION AS A POTENTIAL BUFFER

Species may have the potential to adapt to changing environmental conditions. However, current and predicted climate changes are expected to be rapid, therefore necessitating equally fast and matched evolutionary adaptations. Rapid evolution has been increasingly acknowledged as an ecological process acting at relevant time scales (Thompson, 1998; Parmesan, 2006). Thompson (1998) reported on interspecific specialists interactions that coevolved over only a few decades implying that ecologically significant evolutionary responses of plants and pollinators can accompany both climate change and the generation of novel communities.

(1) Microevolutionary response to climate change

Disruptions of ecological matches such as spatial and temporal synchronicity (Section II) will lead to selection. However, the degree to which particular plants and pollinators may adapt to changing conditions and therewith maintain interactions is unclear. For plant-herbivore interactions, there is evidence that phenological mismatches might be reversed by rapid evolution. For instance, Operophtera brumata L. (winter moth) egg hatch date has advanced more than the bud burst date of its larval food plant Quercus robur L. (pedunculate oak) over the past two decades. Van Asch et al. (2007) demonstrated that crucial prerequisites for rapid adaptation (sufficient genetic variation, heritable reaction norm, severe fitness consequences) exist for O. brumata and predict, based on climate change scenarios, a rapid response to selection pressures and a restoration of synchrony of egg hatch with Q. robur bud opening. However, in spite of the potential for rapid adaptation, the reasons for currently observed asynchrony remain unclear. Still, genetic preconditions for adaptation and response mechanisms differ among the species involved in different interactions (Holt, 1990). According to such variation, we can also expect variation in the importance of rapid adaptation to lessen or restore asynchrony.

Spatial mismatches could potentially be counterbalanced when both species involved retain their current geographical distribution by adapting to previously unsuitable climates. However, there is little experimental or theoretical support that a particular species will be able sufficiently to evolve absolute climatic tolerances (reviewed in Parmesan, 2006). Even if this happens, it seems unlikely that the evolutionary potential of an interacting species would allow for similar adaptations. In fact, evolution will rather complement and modulate than replace projected ecological changes (Parmesan, 2006). In the context of plant-pollinator interactions it is interesting that such modulations may result in unexpected alterations of the level of specialisation. For the European butterfly *Aricia agestis* Schiffermüller it has been shown that diet breadth was climatically controlled at the northern range margins. The species was specialised on the host genus, *Helianthemum*, which grows in warmer microclimates. In the course of climate warming, *A. agestis* shifted its host and could additionally feed on native *Geranium* ssp., which grow in comparably cooler microclimates. This local diet evolution promoted further expansion to northern areas where the original host, *Helianthemum*, was absent and thus enabled this species to move ahead of changing climates (Thomas *et al.*, 2001).

Specialisation on resources that mitigate the effects of extreme climate has been repeatedly reported (Nylin, 1988; Thomas et al., 2001) and is also likely for pollinators. Consequently, observed effects of diet evolution in plant-herbivore systems may well be transferred to plant-pollinator interactions. One consequence would be that even if a pollinator is (locally) highly specialised on particular pollen resources and strong trade-offs between climate tolerance and resource preferences exist, relaxation from climate control at poleward range boundaries could enable a formerly specialised pollinator to expand its dietary niche. This in turn could also increase the frequency and number of pollinator species visiting plants with flower morphologies or microhabitat requirements that would, under cooler conditions, not especially attract many pollinators (e.g. by lowering dependence on warmthrewarding plants; Kudo, 1995; Luzar, 2001). But there are limits to such rapid changes, e.g. due to constraints imposed by phylogenetic histories of the involved species. Thus, shifts in pollinator specialisation may be restricted to a small subset of the available resource plants (Thompson, 1998).

(2) Microevolutionary response to novel communities

In novel communities, both conditions of competition and resource supply are changed (Section II), while rapid evolution might allow for adaptive responses that may facilitate coexistence. The potential for evolutionary response has been particularly documented for communities invaded by alien species (Thompson, 1998; Strauss, Lau & Carroll, 2006; Vellend *et al.*, 2007). Alien plants might impose disruptive selection within populations of native plants when they compete for pollinators. This kind of asymmetric selection might favour traits that can reduce the negative effects of competition (Palmer *et al.*, 2003) including traits that increase the effectiveness of infrequent pollinator visits (Medan & Basilio, 2001; Medan, 2003) or that facilitate selffertilisation (Fishman & Wyatt, 1999; Kudo & Kasagi, 2005; van Kleunen *et al.*, 2008).

For pollinators, resource partitioning is suggested as a widespread mechanism that minimises interspecific competition (Heinrich, 1976; Palmer *et al.*, 2003). In novel communities, competition with novel species could then be avoided by evolutionary shifts in spatial, temporal or floral forage patterns. However, novel communities tend to be dominated by generalist species with broad ecological niches, and thus subordinate pollinators may frequently be restricted to suboptimal flower species. This is supported by evidence for hierarchical competitive displacement rather than fixed preferences. Kato *et al.* (1999) found that native bees were rarer and visited a narrower range of available flowers on pacific islands dominated by the alien honeybee compared to uninvaded islands.

However, even though rapid evolution may represent a potential buffer against effects of climate change and the restructuring of communities, it will not 'rescue' endangered species in equal measure (Skelly *et al.*, 2007). Whether a species is capable of responding evolutionarily to adverse selection will depend on its genetic preconditions and, due to their complex nature, predictions for a particular species are still hard to make (Holt, 1990; Parmesan, 2006). In some cases, a species will fail to evolve or otherwise adapt, and local or global extinction will result. In other cases, adaptive change may diminish impacts of climate change and potentially promote coexistence in novel communities (Strauss *et al.*, 2006).

VIII. PLANT–POLLINATOR NETWORK ARCHITECTURE AS A POTENTIAL BUFFER

The intrinsic structure of plant-pollinator networks may act as a buffer against cascading effects of climate change (Hegland et al., 2009), species extinction (Memmot, Waser & Price, 2004) and species introductions (Vilà et al., 2009). Plant-pollinator interactions are often highly asymmetric and plant-pollinator networks have been shown to display a nested structure (Fortuna & Bascompte, 2006). This means that a core set of generalist species, both plants and pollinators, play key roles, with specialist plants and pollinators interacting with generalist pollinators and plants, respectively (Jordano, Bascompte & Olesen, 2003; Petanidou & Potts, 2006). The core of generalist species are often less vulnerable to environmental change, therefore they may partly sustain network structure under altered environmental conditions. These network structural properties are suggested to confer robustness to loss of species and interactions due to the high level of redundancy and flexibility within the systems (Memmott et al., 2004; Fortuna & Bascompte, 2006; Petanidou et al., 2008; Alarcón, Waser & Ollerton, 2008; Hegland et al., 2009). There is empirical evidence that although the introduction of single alien plants changes pairwise native plant-pollinator interactions, it does not change the general structure of the network (Vilà et al., 2009).

Another intrinsic property of plant-pollinator networks is their plasticity with respect to species composition and interaction identity. Several studies have shown that plant-pollinator networks are not static, but highly variable through time. Olesen *et al.* (2008) showed in a study system on Greenland that one-fifth of the pollinator species and two-thirds of all links were only observed in one of the two years they studied. Petanidou *et al.* (2008) found similar results in a Greek pollination network studied over four consecutive years. The high degree of generalisation within plant–pollinator networks can by itself confer robustness to alien species and climate change, as few species depend solely on one particular interaction partner.

The assumed buffering capacities of plant-pollinator networks, providing a potential 'safety net' for overall pollination function, may be weakened, however, when changing environmental conditions also affect the pathways and strengths of interactions (Lopezaraiza-Mikel et al., 2007; Tylianakis et al., 2008). For instance, Memmott et al. (2007) simulated phenological shifts in plant-pollinator networks and found that the resulting temporal mismatches reduced resource availability and thus diet breadth for the pollinators. They also showed that this again could lead to extinction of pollinators and their interactions, initiating an interaction vortex ultimately also affecting the plants. The authors simulated extinctions by removing pollinators at random, systematically from least-linked (most specialised) to mostlinked (most generalised), and systematically from most- to least-linked. Even under the worst-case scenario, removing the most generalised pollinators first, the decrease in plant species was only linear, as opposed to catastrophic species declines reported from standard food-webs. They argue again that intrinsic properties of the plant-pollinator networks, such as the nested structure, are responsible for the relative tolerance to extinctions.

However, the presence of invader complexes can change the native plant-pollinator network transferring links from specialist or generalist native species to super-generalist invading species (e.g. Memmott & Waser, 2002; Aizen, Morales & Morales, 2008). Thus in the course of climate change and generation of novel plant-pollinator systems, the robust structure of the networks may not suffice and the system might reach a tipping point and collapse under severe pressures from multiple factors (Memmott *et al.*, 2004; Fortuna & Bascompte, 2006).

IX. CONCLUSIONS

(1) The combined effects of climate change and alien species on species performance and interactions (Fig. 1) will lead to the generation of novel communities. Within these novel communities established interactions may be disrupted while in turn new interactions will be possible (Fig. 2). It is hard to judge whether this will have a net negative effect on biodiversity and ecosystem function (Fig. 3). What can be expected though is that generalist species are more likely to profit while specialists will rather not. And as a consequence, novel communities might be

increasingly dominated by generalists as global change proceeds.

- (2) Climate change in particular is likely to impact native plant-pollinator interactions negatively by altering or disrupting temporal, spatial, behavioural, morphological or energetic matching and changing conditions of competition (arrow a in Fig. 1; Table 1).
- (3) Similar to climate change, alien species are also commonly viewed as having a negative effect on native species (Table 2). While the weight of evidence suggests that this is true for competition within the same trophic level (arrows b and c in Fig. 1; Table 4), such effects may actually result in positive interactions when mutualists such as pollinators or nectar and pollen resources are facilitated (arrows d and e in Fig. 1; Table 3).
- (4) Net effects of direct and indirect interactions among native and alien species are hard to predict because of complex feedback loops (Fig. 3). But generalist species may profit more from potential positive compensatory effects of alien species than specialists (Table 3).
- (5) The effects of alien species, no matter if positive or negative, might be enhanced by the fact that alien plants and alien pollinators tend to form invader complexes (arrow f in Fig. 1). Invader complexes, often consisting of super-generalists, have so far been little affected by climate change and may sustain or even enhance, perhaps increasingly competitive and dominant, alien populations *via* positive feedback mechanisms.
- (6) Several buffer mechanisms may come into play: alien species can compensate for lost interactions (Table 3), rapid evolution enables adaptation, and plant-pollinator network architecture, redundancy and flexibility might impede cascading extinctions. However, all these buffer capacities are not unlimited and although they may well modulate the responses to climate change and alien species, they will not necessarily circumvent severe changes in plant-pollinator interactions and the consequent species extinctions.
- (7) The complex interplay of negative and positive effects of multiple drivers, acting directly or *via* indirect feedback loops on a set of species interactions, as described in this review, highlights the importance of considering both multiple drivers and species interactions in concert. To predict reliably the consequences of global change for biodiversity, ecosystem functioning and the provision of ecosystem services, a great challenge for future research will be to assess net effects of multiple drivers.

X. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We acknowledge the support of European Commission Framework Programme (FP) 6 via the Integrated Project ALARM (GOCE-CT-2003-506675; Settele *et al.*, 2005) and FP 7 *via* PRATIQUE (EU FP7 KBBE-2007-1-212459) and STEP (EU FP7 244090-STEP-CP-FP), and the Scientific Support to Policy projects MACIS (SSPI 044399; Kühn *et al.*, 2008) and COCONUT (SSPI-CT-2006-044346), the European Regional Development Fund (Center of Excellence FIBIR), as well as the projects AV0Z60050516 (AS CR), MSM0021620828 and LC06073 (MSMT CR), MONTES-CSD2008-00040, and REDESIN (CGL2007-61165/BOS).

XI. REFERENCES

- ABBOTT, R. J. (1992). Plant invasions, interspecific hybridization and the evolution of new plant taxa. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 7, 401–405.
- AFIK, O. & SHAFIR, S. (2007). Effect of ambient temperature on crop loading in the honey bee, *Apis mellifera* (Hymenoptera: Apidae). *Entomologia Generalis* 29, 135–148.
- AIZEN, M. A., MORALES, C. L. & MORALES, J. M. (2008). Invasive mutualists erode native pollination webs. *PLoS Biology* 6, 396–403.
- ALARCÓN, R., WASER, N. M. & OLLERTON, J. (2008). Year-to-year variation in the topology of a plant-pollinator interaction network. *Oikas* 117, 1796–1807.
- ALSOS, I. G., EIDESEN, P. B., EHRICH, D., SKREDE, I., WESTERGAARD, K., JACOBSEN, G. H., LANDVIK, J. Y., TABERLET, P. & BROCHMANN, C. (2007) Frequent longdistance plant colonization in the changing Arctic. *Science* **316**, 1606–1609.
- ANDERSON, D. & EAST, I. J. (2008). The latest buzz about colony collapse disorder. Science 319, 724–725.
- ASHMAN, T. L., KNIGHT, T. M., STEETS, J. A., AMARASEKARE, P., BURD, M., CAMPBELL, D. R., DUDASH, M. R., JOHNSTON, M. O., MAZER, S. J., MITCHELL, R. J., MORGAN, M. T. & WILSON, W. G. (2004). Pollen limitation of plant reproduction: Ecological and evolutionary causes and consequences. *Ecology* 85, 2408–2421.
- BADECK, F. W., BONDEAU, A., BOTTCHER, K., DOKTOR, D., LUCHT, W., SCHABER, J. & SITCH, S. (2004). Responses of spring phenology to climate change. *New Phytologist* 162, 295–309.
- BAKER, H. G. (1974). The evolution of weeds. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 5, 1–24.
- BALVANERA, P., KREMEN, C. & MARTINEZ-RAMOS, M. (2005). Applying community structure analysis to ecosystem function: Examples from pollination and carbon storage. *Ecological Applications* 15, 360–375.
- BARNEY, J. N., WHITLOW, T. H. & DITOMMASO, A. (2009). Evolution of an invasive phenotype: Shift to belowground dominance and enhanced competitive ability in the introduced range. *Plant Ecology* **202**, 275–284.
- BARTOMEUS, I., BOCH, J. & VILA, M. (2008). High invasive pollen transfer, yet low deposition on native stigmas in a *Carpobrotus*-invaded community. *Annals of Botany* 102, 417–424.
- BARTOMEUS, N., VILÀ, M. & SANTAMARÍA, L. (2008). Contrasting effects of invasive plants in plant-pollinator networks. *Oecologia* 155, 761–770.
- BEERLING, D. J. & PERRINS, J. M. (1993). Impatiens glandulifera Royle (Impatiens roylei Walp). Journal of Ecology 81, 367–382.
- BIESMEIJER, J. C., ROBERTS, S. P. M., REEMER, M., OHLEMÜLLER, R., EDWARDS, M., PEETERS, T., SCHAFFERS, A. P., POTTS, S. G., KLEUKERS, R., THOMAS, C. D., SETTELE, J. & KUNIN, W. E. (2006). Parallel declines in pollinators and insect-pollinated plants in Britain and the Netherlands. *Science* **313**, 351–354.
- BJERKNES, A. L., TOTLAND, O., HEGLAND, S. J. & NIELSEN, A. (2007). Do alien plant invasions really affect pollination success in native plant species? *Biological Conservation* 138, 1–12.
- BOND, W. J. (1994). Do mutualisms matter-assessing the impact of pollinator and disperser disruption on plant extinction. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London Series B-Biological Sciences* 344, 83–90.
- BORRELL, B. J. (2007). Scaling of nectar foraging in orchid bees. American Naturalist 169, 569–580.
- BOSSDORF, O., AUGE, H., LAFUMA, L., ROGERS, W. E., SIEMANN, E. & PRATI, D. (2005). Phenotypic and genetic differentiation between native and introduced plant populations. *Oecologia* 144, 1–11.
- BOTH, C., VAN ASCH, M., BIJLSMA, R. G., VAN DEN BURG, A. B. & VISSER, M. E. (2009). Climate change and unequal phenological changes across four trophic levels: Constraints or adaptations? *Journal of Animal Ecology* **78**, 73–83.
- BOTHAM, M. S., ROTHERY, P., HULME, P. E., HILL, M. O., PRESTON, C. D. & ROY, D. B. (2009). Do urban areas act as foci for the spread of alien plant species?: An assessment of temporal trends in the UK. *Diversity and Distributions* 15, 338–345.

- BROOKER, R. W. (2006). Plant-plant interactions and environmental change. New Phytologist 171, 271–284.
- BROWN, B. J. & MITCHELL, R. J. (2001). Competition for pollination: Effects of pollen of an invasive plant on seed set of a native congener. *Oecologia* 129, 43–49.
- BROWN, B. J., MITCHELL, R. J. & GRAHAM, S. A. (2002). Competition for pollination between an invasive species (purple loosestrife) and a native congener. *Ecology* 83, 2328–2336.
- BURQUEZ, A. & CORBET, S. A. (1991). Do flowers reabsorb nectar? Functional Ecology 5, 369–379.
- CAMPBELL, D. R. (1985). Pollinator sharing and seed set of *Stellaria pubera*-competition for pollination. *Ecology* 66, 544–553.
- CELESTI-GRAPOW, L., DI MARZIO, P. & BLASI, C. (2003). Temporal niche separation of the alien flora of Rome. In *Plant invasions: Ecological threats and management solutions* (eds. L. CHILD, J. H. BROCK, G. BRUNDU, K. PRACH, P. Pyšek, M. Wade & M. Williamson), pp. 101–111. Leiden: Backhuys.
- CHITTKA, L. & SCHÜRKENS, S. (2001). Successful invasion of a floral market An exotic Asian plant has moved in on Europe's river-banks by bribing pollinators. *Nature* **411**, 653.
- CHRISTENSEN, J. H., HEWITSON, B., BUSUIOC, A., CHEN, A., GAO, X., HELD, I., JONES, R., KOLLI, R. K., KWON, W. T., LAPRISE, R., MAGAÑA RUEDA, V., MEARNS, L., MENÉNDEZ, C. G., RĂISĂNEN, J., RINKE, A., SARR, A. & WHETTON, P. (2007). Regional climate projections. In *Climate charge 2007: the physical science basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Charge* (eds. S. SOLOMON, D. QIN, M. MANNING, Z. CHEN, M. MARQUIS, K. B. AVERYT, M. TIGNOR & H. L. MILLER), pp. 847–940. Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press.
- COMBA, L., CORBET, S. A., HUNT, L. & WARREN, B. (1999). Flowers, nectar and insect visits: Evaluating British plant species for pollinator-friendly gardens. *Annals of Botany* 83, 369–383.
- CORBET, S. A. (2000). Conserving compartments in pollination webs. *Conservation Biology* 14, 1229–1231.
- COX-FOSTER, D., CONLAN, S., HOLMES, E. C., PALACIOS, G., KALKSTEIN, A., EVANS, J. D., MORAN, N. A., QUAN, P. L., GEISER, D., BRIESE, T., HORNIG, M., HUI, J., VANENGELSDORP, D., PETTIS, J. S. & LIPKIN, W. I. (2008). The latest buzz about colony collapse disorder. Response. *Science* **319**, 725.
- COX-FOSTER, D. L., CONLAN, S., HOLMES, E. C., PALACIOS, G., EVANS, J. D., MORAN, N. A., QUAN, P. L., BRIESE, T., HORNIG, M., GEISER, D. M., MARTINSON, V., VANENCELSDORP, D., KALKSTEIN, A. L., DRYSDALE, A., HUI, J., ZHAI, J. H., CUI, L. W., HUTCHISON, S. K., SIMONS, J. F., EGHOLM, M., PETTIS, J. S. & LIPKIN, W. I. (2007). A metagenomic survey of microbes in honey bee colony collapse disorder. *Science* **318**, 283–287.
- DAEHLER, C. C. & CARINO, D. (2001). Hybridization between native and alien plants and its consequences. In *Biotic homogenization* (eds. J. L. LOCKWOOD & M. MCKINNEY), pp. 81–102. New York: Kluwer.
- DAEHLER, C. C. (2003). Performance comparisons of co-occurring native and alien invasive plants: Implications for conservation and restoration. *Annual Review of Ecology Evolution and Systematics* 34, 183–211.
- DAWSON, W., BURSLEM, D. F. R. P. & HULME, P. E. (2009). Factors explaining alien plant invasion success in a tropical ecosystem differ at each stage of invasion. *Journal* of Ecology 97, 657–665.
- DICK, C. W. (2001). Genetic rescue of remnant tropical trees by an alien pollinator. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B-Biological Sciences 268, 2391–2396.
- DINIZ, N. M., SOARES, A. E. E., SHEPPARD, W. S. & DEL LAMA, M. A. (2003). Genetic structure of honeybee populations from southern Brazil and Uruguay. *Genetics and Molecular Biology* 26, 47–52.
- DUKES, J. S. & MOONEY, H. A. (1999). Does global change increase the success of biological invaders? *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 14, 135–139.
- DUPONT, Y. L., HANSEN, D. M., VALIDO, A. & OLESEN, J. M. (2004). Impact of introduced honey bees on native pollination interactions of the endemic *Echium* wildpretü (Boraginaceae) on Tenerife, Canary Islands. *Biological Conservation* 118, 301–311.
- EASTERLING, D. R., MEEHL, G. A., PARMESAN, C., CHANGNON, S. A., KARL, T. R. & MEARNS, L. O. (2000). Climate extremes: Observations, modeling, and impacts. *Science* 289, 2068–2074.
- EICKWORT, G. C. & GINSBERG, H. S. (1980). Foraging and mating-behavior in Apoidea. Annual Review of Entomology 25, 421-446.
- ELLSTRAND, N. C. & SCHIERENBECK, K. A. (2000). Hybridization as a stimulus for the evolution of invasiveness in plants? *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of* the United States of America 97, 7043–7050.
- ELZINGA, J. A., ATLAN, A., BIERE, A., GIGORD, L., WEIS, A. E. & BERNASCONI, G. (2007). Time after time: Flowering phenology and biotic interactions. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 22, 432–439.
- EYER, M., CHEN, J. P., SCHÄFER, M. O., PETTIS, J. & NEUMANN, P. (2009). Small hive beetle, *Aethina tumida*, as a potential biological vector of honeybee viruses. *Apidologie* 40, 419–428.

- FISHMAN, L. & WYATT, R. (1999). Pollinator-mediated competition, reproductive character displacement, and the evolution of selfing in Arenaria uniflora (Caryophyllaceae). *Evolution* 53, 1723–1733.
- FITTER, A. H. & FITTER, R. S. R. (2002). Rapid changes in flowering time in British plants. Science 296, 1689–1691.
- FLEMING, T. H., SAHLEY, C. T., HOLLAND, J. N., NASON, J. D. & HAMRICK, J. L. (2001). Sonoran Desert columnar cacti and the evolution of generalized pollination systems. *Ecological Monographs* **71**, 511–530.
- FONTAINE, C., DAJOZ, I., MERIGUET, J. & LOREAU, M. (2006). Functional diversity of plant-pollinator interaction webs enhances the persistence of plant communities. *PLoS Biology* 4, 129–135.
- FORTUNA, M. A. & BASCOMPTE, J. (2006). Habitat loss and the structure of plantanimal mutualistic networks. *Ecology Letters* 9, 281–286.
- GALEN, C. & CUBA, J. (2001). Down the tube: Pollinators, predators, and the evolution of flower shape in the alpine skypilot, *Polemonium viscosum. Evolution* 55, 1963–1971.
- GARCÍA-FERNÁNDEZ, P., RODRIGUEZ, R. B. & ORANTESBERMEJO, F. J. (1995). Influence of Climate on the Evolution of the Population-Dynamics of the Varroa Mite on Honeybees in the South of Spain. *Apidologie* 26, 371–380.
- GILLIAM, M., LORENZ, B. J. & BUCHMANN, S. L. (1994). Ascosphaera apis, the chalkbrood pathogen of the honeybee, Apis mellifera, from larvae of a carpenter bee, Xylocopa californica arizonensis. Journal of Invertebrate Pathology 63, 307–309.
- GILLOOLY, J. F., BROWN, J. H., WEST, G. B., SAVAGE, V. M. & CHARNOV, E. L. (2001). Effects of size and temperature on metabolic rate. *Science* 293, 2248–2251.
- GOLUBOV, J., EGUIARTE, L. E., MANDUJANO, M. C., LOPEZ-PORTILLO, J. & MONTANA, C. (1999). Why be a honeyless honey mesquite? Reproduction and mating system of nectarful and nectarless individuals. *American Journal of Botany* 86, 955–963.
- GORDO, O. & SANZ, J. J. (2005). Phenology and climate change: A long-term study in a Mediterranean locality. *Oecologia* **146**, 484–495.
- GOULSON, D. (2003). Effects of introduced bees on native ecosystems. Annual Review of Ecology Evolution and Systematics 34, 1–26.
- GOULSON, D. & HANLEY, M. E. (2004). Distribution and forage use of exotic bumblebees in South Island, New Zealand. New Zealand Journal of Ecology 28, 225–232.
- GOULSON, D. & SPARROW, K. (2009). Evidence for competition between honeybees and bumblebees; effects on bumblebee worker size. *Journal of Insect Conservation* 13, 177–181.
- GRABAS, G. P. & LAVERTY, T. M. (1999). The effect of purple loosestrife (Lythnum salicaria L; Lythraceae) on the pollination and reproductive success of sympatric co-flowering wetland plants. *Ecoscience* 6, 230–242.
- GREENLEAF, S. S., WILLIAMS, N. M., WINFREE, R. & KREMEN, C. (2007). Bee foraging ranges and their relationship to body size. *Oecologia* 153, 589–596.
- GROSS, C. L. (2001). The effect of introduced honeybees on native bee visitation and fruit-set in *Dilluynia juniperina* (Fabaceae) in a fragmented ecosystem. *Biological Conservation* **102**, 89–95.
- GROTKOPP, E., REJMÁNEK, M. & ROST, T. L. (2002). Toward a causal explanation of plant invasiveness: Seedling growth and life-history strategies of 29 pine (*Pinus*) species. *American Naturalist* **159**, 396–419.
- HANSEN, D. M., OLESEN, J. M. & JONES, C. G. (2002). Trees, birds and bees in Mauritius: exploitative competition between introduced honey bees and endemic nectarivorous birds? *Journal of Biogeography* 29, 721–734.
- HANSPACH, J., KÜHN, I., PYŠEK, P., BOOS, E. & KLOTZ, S. (2008). Correlates of naturalization and occupancy of introduced ornamentals in Germany. *Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution and Systematics* **10**, 241–250.
- HARRINGTON, R., WOIWOD, I. & SPARKS, T. (1999). Climate change and trophic interactions. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 14, 146–150.
- HAWKINS, B. A. (1995). Latitudinal body-size gradients for the bees of the Eastern United-States. *Ecological Entomology* 20, 195–198.
- HAWKINS, B. A. & DEVRIES, P. J. (1996). Altitudinal gradients in the body sizes of Costa Rican butterflies. Acta Oecologica-International Journal of Ecology 17, 185–194.
- HEGLAND, S. J., NIELSEN, A., LÁZARO, A., BJERKNES, A. L. & TOTLAND, O. (2009). How does climate warming affect plant-pollinator interactions? *Ecology Letters* 12, 184–195.
- HEINRICH, B. (1976). Resource partitioning among some eusocial insects-bumblebees. *Ecology* 57, 874–889.
- HEJDA, M. & PYŠEK, P. (2006). What is the impact of *Impatiens glandulifera* on species diversity of invaded riparian vegetation? *Biological Conservation* 132, 143–152.
- HERRERA, J. (2005). Flower size variation in *Rosmarinus officinalis*: Individuals, populations and habitats. *Annals of Botany* 95, 431–437.
- HOBBS, R. J., ARICO, S., ARONSON, J., BARON, J. S., BRIDGEWATER, P., CRAMER, V. A., EPSTEIN, P. R., EWEL, J. J., KLINK, C. A., LUGO, A. E., NORTON, D., OJIMA, D., RICHARDSON, D. M., SANDERSON, E. W., VALLADARES, F., VILÀ, M., ZAMORA, R. & ZOBEL, M. (2006). Novel cosystems: theoretical and management aspects of the new ecological world order. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 15, 1–7.
- HOLT, R. D. (1990). The microevolutionary consequences of climate change. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 5, 311–315.
- HOOPER, D. U., CHAPIN III, F. S., EWEL, J. J., HECTOR, A., INCHAUSTI, P., LAVOREL, S., LAWTON, J. H., LODGE, D. M., LOREAU, M., NAEEM, S., SCHMID,

B., SETĂLÄ, H., SYMSTAD, A. J., VANDERMEER, J. & WARDLE, D. A. (2005). Effects of biodiversity on ecosystem functioning: A consensus of current knowledge. *Ecological Monographs* 75, 3–35.

- HULME, P. E. (1996). Herbivory, plant regeneration, and species coexistence. *Journal of Ecology* 84, 609–615.
- HULME, P. E. (2009). Relative roles of life-form, land use and climate in recent dynamics of alien plant distributions in the British Isles. *Weed Research* 49, 19–28.
- HULME, P. E. & BREMNER, E. T. (2006). Assessing the impact of *Impatiens glandulifera* on riparian habitats: partitioning diversity components following species removal. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 43, 43–50.
- IBÁÑEZ, İ., CLARK, J. S., DIETZE, M. C., FEELEY, K., HERSH, M., LADEAU, S., MCBRIDE, A., WELCH, N. E. & WOLOSIN, M. S. (2006). Predicting biodiversity change: Outside the climate envelope, beyond the species-area curve. *Ecology* 87, 1896–1906.
- JOHNSON, S. D. & STEINER, K. E. (1997). Long-tongued fly pollination and evolution of floral spur length in the *Disa draconis* complex (Orchidaceae). *Evolution* 51, 45–53.
- JOHNSON, S. G., DELPH, L. F. & ELDERKIN, C. L. (1995). The Effect of petal-size manipulation on pollen removal, seed set, and insect-visitor behavior in *Campanula americana*. *Oecologia* **102**, 174–179.
- JORDANO, P., BASCOMPTE, J. & OLESEN, J. M. (2003). Invariant properties in coevolutionary networks of plant-animal interactions. *Ecology Letters* 6, 69–81.
- KATO, M., SHIBATA, A., YASUI, T. & NAGAMASU, H. (1999). Impact of introduced honeybees, *Apis mellifera*, upon native bee communities in the Bonin (Ogasawara) Islands. *Researches on Population Ecology* **41**, 217–228.
- KEARNS, C. A., INOUYE, D. W. & WASER, N. M. (1998). Endangered mutualisms: the conservation of plant-pollinator interactions. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics* 29, 83–112.
- KLEIJN, D. & RAEMAKERS, I. (2008). A retrospective analysis of pollen host plant use by stable and declining bumble bee species. *Ecology* 89, 1811–1823.
- KLEIN, A. M., VAISSIERE, B. E., CANE, J. H., STEFFAN-DEWENTER, I., CUNNINGHAM, S. A., KREMEN, C. & TSCHARNTKE, T. (2007). Importance of pollinators in changing landscapes for world crops. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B-Biological Sciences* 274, 303–313.
- KOLAR, C. S. & LODGE, D. M. (2001). Progress in invasion biology: predicting invaders. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 16, 199–204.
- KOTIAHO, J. S., KAITALA, V., KOMONEN, A. & PAIVINEN, J. (2005). Predicting the risk of extinction from shared ecological characteristics. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences of the United States of America 102, 1963–1967.
- KRAUS, F. B., FRANCK, P. & VANDAME, R. (2007). Asymmetric introgression of African genes in honeybee populations (*Apis mellifera* L.) in Central Mexico. *Heredity* 99, 233–240.
- KREMEN, C. (2005). Managing ecosystem services: what do we need to know about their ecology? *Ecology Letters* 8, 468–479.
- KUDO, G. (1995). Ecological significance of flower heliotropism in the spring ephemeral Adonis ramosa (Ranunculaceae). Oikos 72, 14–20.
- KUDO, G. & KASAGI, T. (2005). Microscale variations in the mating system and heterospecific incompatibility mediated by pollination competition in alpine snowbed plants. *Plant Species Biology* **20**, 93–103.
- KÜHN, I., BRANDENBURG, M. & KLOTZ, S. (2004a). Why do alien plant species that reproduce in natural habitats occur more frequently? *Diversity and Distributions* 10, 417–425.
- KÜHN, I., BRANDL, R. & KLOTZ, S. (2004b). The flora of German cities is naturally species rich. Evolutionary Ecology Research 6, 749–764.
- KÜHN, I., SYKES, M. T., BERRY, P. M., THUILLER, W., PIPER, J. M., NIGMANN, U., ARAUJO, M. B., BALLETTO, E., BONELLI, S., CABEZA, M., GUISAN, A., HICKLER, T., KLOTZ, S., METZGER, M., MIDGLEY, G., MUSCHE, M., OLOFSSON, J., PATERSON, J. S., PENEV, L., RICKEBUSCH, S., ROUNSEVELL, M. D. A. R., SCHWEIGER, O., WILSON, E. & SETTELE, J. (2008). MACIS: Minimisation of and adaptation to climate change impacts on biodiversity. *Gaia-Ecological Perspectives for Science and Society* **17**, 393–395.
- KÜSTER, E. C., DURKA, W., KÜHN, I. & KLOTZ, S. (2009). Differences in trait compositions of non-indigenous and native plants across Germany. *Biological Invasions*, online early, doi: 10.1007/s10530-009-9603-4.
- KÜSTER, E. C., KÜHN, I., BRUELHEIDE, H. & KLOTZ, S. (2008). Trait interactions help explain plant invasion success in the German flora. *Journal of Ecology* 96, 860–868.
- LAMBDON, P. W., LLORET, F. & HULME, P. E. (2008a). Do alien plants on Mediterranean islands tend to invade different niches from native species? *Biological Invasions* 10, 703–716.
- LAMBDON, P. W., PYŠEK, P., BASNOU, C., HEJDA, M., ARIANOUTSOU, M., ESSL, F., JAROŠIK, V., PERGL, J., WINTER, M., ANASTASIU, P., ANDRIOPOULOS, P., BAZOS, I., BRUNDU, G., CELESTI-GRAPOW, L., CHASSOT, P., DELIPETROU, P., JOSEFSSON, M., KARK, S., KLOTZ, S., KOKKORIS, Y., KÜHN, I., MARCHANTE, H., PERGLOVÁ, I., PINO, J., VILÀ, M., ZIKOS, A., ROY, D. & HULME, P. E. (2008*b*). Alien flora of Europe: Species diversity, temporal trends, geographical patterns and research needs. *Preslia* **80**, 101–149.
- LANDSBERG, H. (1981). The urban climate, New York: Academic Press.

- LAVOREL, S., MCINTYRE, S., LANDSBERG, J. & FORBES, T. D. A. (1997). Plant functional classifications: from general groups to specific groups based on response to disturbance. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 12, 474–478.
- LE CONTE, Y. & NAVAJAS, M. (2008). Climate change: impact on honey bee populations and diseases. *Revue Scientifique et Technique-Office International des Epizooties* 27, 499–510.
- LEE, C. E. (2002). Evolutionary genetics of invasive species. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 17, 386–391.
- LENOIR, J., GEGOUT, J. C., MARQUET, P. A., DE RUFFRAY, P. & BRISSE, H. (2008). A significant upward shift in plant species optimum elevation during the 20th century. *Science* **320**, 1768–1771.
- LEVINE, J. M., VILÀ, M., D'ANTONIO, C. M., DUKES, J. S., GRIGULIS, K. & LAVOREL, S. (2003). Mechanisms underlying the impacts of exotic plant invasions. *Proceedings* of the Royal Society of London Series B-Biological Sciences 270, 775–781.
- LLORET, F., MÉDAIL, F., BRUNDU, G., CAMARDA, I., MORAGUES, E., RITA, J., LAMBDON, P. & HULME, P. E. (2005). Species attributes and invasion success by alien plants on Mediterranean islands. *Journal of Ecology* 93, 512–520.
- LODGE, D. M. (1993). Biological invasions lessons for ecology. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 8, 133-137.
- LOPEZARAIZA-MIKEL, M. E., HAYES, R. B., WHALLEY, M. R. & MEMMOTT, J. (2007). The impact of an alien plant on a native plant-pollinator network: an experimental approach. *Ecology Letters* 10, 539–550.
- LOVE, R. & FEIGEN, M. (1978). Interspecific hybridization between native and naturalized *Crataegus* (Rosaceae) in western Oregon. *Madrono* 25, 211–217.
- LUZAR, N. (2001). Flower heliotropism and floral heating of five alpine plant species and the effect on flower visiting in *Ranunculus montanus* in the Austrian Alps. *Arctic Antarctic and Alpine Research* 33, 93–99.
- MACDOUGALL, A. S. & TURKINGTON, R. (2005). Are invasive species the drivers or passengers of change in degraded ecosystems? *Ecology* 86, 42–55.
- MALO, J. E. & BAONZA, J. (2002). Are there predictable clines in plant-pollinator interactions along altitudinal gradients? The example of *Cytisus scoparius* (L.) link in the Sierra de Guadarrama (Central Spain). *Diversity and Distributions* 8, 365–371.
- MARTÍN-HERNÁNDEZ, R., MEANA, A., GARCÍA-PALENCIA, P., MARÍN, P., BOTÍAS, C., GARRIDO-BAILÓN, E., BARRIOS, L. & HIGES, M. (2009). Effect of temperature on the biotic potential of honeybee microsporidia. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 75, 2554–2557.
- MATSUMURA, C., YOKOYAMA, J. & WASHITANI, I. (2004). Invasion status and potential ecological impacts of an invasive alien bumblebee, *Bombus terrestris* L. (Hymenoptera: Apidae) naturalized in Southern Hokkaido, Japan. *Global Envirinmental Research* **8**, 51–66.
- MAYFIELD, M. M., WASER, N. M. & PRICE, M. V. (2001). Exploring the 'most effective pollinator principle' with complex flowers: Bumblebees and *Ipomopsis aggregata*. Annals of Botany 88, 591–596.
- MEDAN, D. (2003). Reproductive biology of the Andean shrub Discaria nana (Rhamnaceae). Plant Biology 5, 94–101.
- MEDAN, D. & BASILIO, A. M. (2001). Reproductive biology of *Colletia spinosissima* (Rhamnaceae) in Argentina. *Plant Systematics and Evolution* 229, 79–89.
- MEMMOTT, J., CRAZE, P. G., WASER, N. M. & PRICE, M. V. (2007). Global warming and the disruption of plant-pollinator interactions. *Ecology Letters* 10, 710–717.
- MEMMOTT, J. & WASER, N. M. (2002). Integration of alien plants into a native flowerpollinator visitation web. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B-Biological Sciences 269, 2395-2399.
- MEMMOTT, J., WASER, N. M. & PRICE, M. V. (2004). Tolerance of pollination networks to species extinctions. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B-Biological Sciences 271, 2605–2611.
- MENÉNDEZ, R., GONZALEZ-MEGIAS, A., COLLINGHAM, Y., FOX, R., ROY, D. B. & OHLEMÜLLER, R. (2007). Direct and indirect effects of climate and habitat factors on butterfly diversity. *Ecology* 88, 605–611.
- MENÉNDEZ, R., GONZALEZ-MEGIAS, A., LEWIS, O. T., SHAW, M. R. & THOMAS, C. D. (2008). Escape from natural enemies during climate-driven range expansion: a case study. *Ecological Entomology* 33, 413–421.
- MENÉNDEZ, R., MEGIAS, A. G., HILL, J. K., BRASCHLER, B., WILLIS, S. G., COLLINGHAM, Y., FOX, R., ROY, D. B. & THOMAS, C. D. (2006). Species richness changes lag behind climate change. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B-Biological Sciences* 273, 1465–1470.
- MENZEL, A., SPARKS, T. H., ESTRELLA, N., KOCH, E., AASA, A., AHAS, R., ALM-KUBLER, K., BISSOLLI, P., BRASLAVSKA, O., BRIEDE, A., CHMIELEWSKI, F. M., CREPINSEK, Z., CURNEL, Y., DAHL, A., DEFILA, C., DONNELLY, A., FILELLA, Y., JATCZA, K., MAGE, F., MESTRE, A., NORDLI, O., PENUELAS, J., PIINEN, P., REMISOVA, V., SCHEIFINGER, H., STRIZ, M., SUSNIK, A., VAN VLIET, A. J. H., WIELGOLASKI, F. E., ZACH, S. & ZUST, A. (2006). European phenological response to climate change matches the warming pattern. *Global Change Biology* **12**, 1969–1976.
- MILBAU, A. & STOUT, J. C. (2008). Factors associated with alien plants transitioning from casual, to naturalized, to invasive. *Conservation Biology* 22, 308–317.
- Millennium Ecosystem Assessment. (2005). Ecosystems and human well-being: Scenarios, Washington, DC: Island Press.
- MOELLER, D. A. (2004). Facilitative interactions among plants via shared pollinators. *Ecology* 85, 3289–3301.

- MOLINA-MONTENEGRO, M. A., BADANO, E. I. & CAVIERES, L. A. (2008). Positive interactions among plant species for pollinator service: assessing the 'magnet species' concept with invasive species. *Oikas* 117, 1833–1839.
- MORALES, C. L. & AIZEN, M. A. (2006). Invasive mutualisms and the structure of plant-pollinator interactions in the temperate forests of north-west Patagonia, Argentina. *Journal of Ecology* 94, 171–180.
- MORALES, C. L. & TRAVESET, A. (2009). A meta-analysis of impacts of alien vs. native plants on pollinator visitation and reproductive success of co-flowering native plants. *Ecology Letters* 12, 716–728.
- MUÑOZ, A. A. & CAVIERES, L. A. (2008). The presence of a showy invasive plant disrupts pollinator service and reproductive output in native alpine species only at high densities. *Journal of Ecology* **96**, 459–467.
- NIELSEN, A. & IMS, R. A. (2000). Bumble bee pollination of the sticky catchfly in a fragmented agricultural landscape. *Ecoscience* 7, 157–165.
- NIENHUIS, C. M., DIETZSCH, A. C. & STOUT, J. C. (2009). The impacts of an invasive alien plant and its removal on native bees. *Apidologie* **40**, 450–463.
- NIGGEMANN, M., JETZKOWITZ, J., BRUNZEL, S., WICHMANN, M. C. & BIALOZYT, R. (2009). Distribution patterns of plants explained by human movement behaviour. *Ecological Modelling* **220**, 1339–1346.
- NYLIN, S. (1988). Host plant specialization and seasonality in a polyphagous butterfly, *Polygonia C-album* (Nymphalidae). *Oikos* 53, 381–386.
- OHLEMÜLLER, R., GRITTI, E. S., SYKES, M. T. & THOMAS, C. D. (2006). Towards European climate risk surfaces: the extent and distribution of analogous and non-analogous climates 1931–2100. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 15, 395–405.
- OLESEN, J. M., BASCOMPTE, J., ELBERLING, H. & JORDANO, P. (2008). Temporal dynamics in a pollination network. *Ecology* 89, 1573–1582.
- OLESEN, J. M., ESKILDSEN, L. I. & VENKATASAMY, S. (2002). Invasion of pollination networks on oceanic islands: importance of invader complexes and endemic super generalists. *Diversity and Distributions* 8, 181–192.
- PAINI, D. R., WILLIAMS, M. R. & ROBERTS, J. D. (2005). No short-term impact of honey bees on the reproductive success of an Australian native bee. *Apidologie* 36, 613–621.
- PALMER, T. M., STANTON, M. L. & YOUNG, T. P. (2003). Competition and coexistence: Exploring mechanisms that restrict and maintain diversity within mutualist guilds. *American Naturalist* 162, S63–S79.
- PARKER, I. M. (1997). Pollinator limitation of *Cytisus scoparius* (Scotch broom), an invasive exotic shrub. *Ecology* 78, 1457–1470.
- PARKER, I. M. & HAUBENSAK, K. A. (2002). Comparative pollinator limitation of two non-native shrubs: do mutualisms influence invasions? *Oecologia* 130, 250–258.
- PARMESAN, C. (1996). Climate and species' range. *Nature* **382**, 765–766.
- PARMESAN, C. (2006). Ecological and evolutionary responses to recent climate change. Annual Review of Ecology Evolution and Systematics 37, 637–669.
- PARMESAN, C., RYRHOLM, N., STEFANESCU, C., HILL, J. K., THOMAS, C. D., DESCIMON, H., HUNTLEY, B., KAILA, L., KULLBERG, J., TAMMARU, T., TENNENT, W. J., THOMAS, J. A. & WARREN, M. (1999). Poleward shifts in geographical ranges of butterfly species associated with regional warming. *Nature* **399**, 579–583.
- PEREBOOM, J. J. M. & BIESMEIJER, J. C. (2003). Thermal constraints for stingless bee foragers: the importance of body size and coloration. *Oecologia* 137, 42–50.
- PETANIDOU, T., KALLIMANIS, A. S., TZANOPOULOS, J., SGARDELIS, S. P. & PANTIS, J. D. (2008). Long-term observation of a pollination network: fluctuation in species and interactions, relative invariance of network structure and implications for estimates of specialization. *Ecology Letters* 11, 564–575.
- PETANIDOU, T. & POTTS, S. G. (2006). Mutual use of resources in Mediterranean plant-pollinator communities: how specialized are pollination webs? In *Plant-pollinator interactions: from specialization to generalization* (eds. N. M. WASER & J. OLLERTON), pp. 220-244. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- PETANIDOU, T. & SMETS, E. (1996). Does temperature stress induce nectar secretion in Mediterranean plants? *New Phytologist* 133, 513–518.
- POMPE, S., HANSPACH, J., BADECK, F., KLOTZ, S., THUILLER, W. & KÜHN, I. (2008). Climate and land use change impacts on plant distributions in Germany. *Biology Letters* 4, 564–567.
- POTTS, S. G., VULLIAMY, B., DAFNI, A., NE'EMAN, G. & WILLMER, P. (2003). Linking bees and flowers: How do floral communities structure pollinator communities? *Ecology* 84, 2628–2642.
- PYŠEK, P. (1998). Alien and native species in Central European urban floras: a quantitative comparison. *Journal of Biogeography* 25, 155–163.
- PYŠEK, P. & Richardson, D. M. (2007). Traits associated with invasiveness in alien plants: Where do we stand? In *Biological invasions* (ed. W. NENTWIG), pp. 97–126. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag.
- PYŠEK, P., RICHARDSON, D. M., REJMÁNEK, M., WEBSTER, G. L., WILLIAMSON, M. & KIRSCHNER, J. (2004). Alien plants in checklists and floras: towards better communication between taxonomists and ecologists. *Taxon* 53, 131–143.
- PYŠEK, P., SÁDLO, J., MÁNDAK, B. & JAROSIK, V. (2003). Czech alien flora and the historical pattern of its formation: What came first to Central Europe? *Oecologia* 135, 122–130.
- RICHARDSON, D. M., PYŠEK, P., REJMÁNEK, M., BARBOUR, M. G., PANETTA, F. D. & WEST, C. J. (2000). Naturalization and invasion of alien plants: concepts and definitions. *Diversity and Distributions* 6, 93–107.

- ROQUES, A., RABITSCH, W., RASPLUS, J. Y., LOPEZ-VAAMONDE, C., NENTWIG, W. & KENIS, M. (2009). Alien terrestrial invertebrates of Europe. In *Handbook of alien species in Europe* (ed. DAISIE), pp. 63–80. Drotrecht: Springer.
- ROUBIK, D. W. & WOLDA, H. (2001). Do competing honey bees matter? Dynamics and abundance of native bees before and after honey bee invasion. *Population Ecology* 43, 53–62.
- ROY, D. B. & SPARKS, T. H. (2000). Phenology of British butterflies and climate change. Global Change Biology 6, 407–416.
- SALA, O. E., CHAPIN, F. S., ARMESTO, J. J., BERLOW, E., BLOOMFIELD, J., DIRZO, R., HUBER-SANWALD, E., HUENNEKE, L. F., JACKSON, R. B., KINZIG, A., LEEMANS, R., LODGE, D. M., MOONEY, H. A., OESTERHELD, M., POFF, N. L., SYKES, M. T., WALKER, B. H., WALKER, M. & WALL, D. H. (2000). Biodiversity–global biodiversity scenarios for the year 2100. *Science* 287, 1770–1774.
- SCHWEIGER, O., SETTELE, J., KUDRNA, O., KLOTZ, S. & KÜHN, I. (2008). Climate change can cause spatial mismatch of trophically interacting species. *Ecology* 89, 3472–3479.
- SETTELE, J., HAMMEN, V., HULME, P., KARLSON, U., KLOTZ, S., KOTARAC, M., KUNIN, W., MARION, G., O'CONNOR, M., PETANIDOU, T., PETERSON, K., POTTS, S., PRITCHARD, H., PYŠEK, P., ROUNSEVELL, M., SPANGENBERG, J., STEFFAN-DEWENTER, I., SYKES, M., VIGHI, M., ZOBEL, M. & KÜHN, I. (2005). ALARM: Assessing Large-scale environmental Risks for biodiversity with tested Methods. *Gaia-Ecological Perspectives for Science and Society* 14, 69–72.
- SETTELE, J., KUDRNA, O., HARPKE, A., KÜHN, I., VAN SWAAY, C., VEROVNIK, R., WARREN, M., WIEMERS, M., HANSPACH, J., HICKLER, T., KÜHN, E., VAN HALDER, I., VELING, K., VLEIGENHART, A., WYNHOFF, I. & SCHWEIGER, O. (2008). Climatic risk atlas of European butterflies. *BioRisk* 1, 1–710.
- SHEPPARD, W. S., RINDERER, T. E., MAZZOLI, J. A., STELZER, J. A. & SHIMANUKI, H. (1991). Gene flow between African-derived and European-derived honey-bee populations in Argentina. *Nature* **349**, 782–784.
- SKELLY, D. K., JOSEPH, L. N., POSSINGHAM, H. P., FREIDENBURG, L. K., FARRUGIA, T. J., KINNISON, M. T. & HENDRY, A. P. (2007). Evolutionary responses to climate change. *Conservation Biology* 21, 1353–1355.
- SMITH, A. R., WEISLO, W. T. & O'DONNELL, S. (2003). Assured fitness returns favor sociality in a mass-provisioning sweat bee, *Megalopta genalis* (Hymenoptera : Halictidae). *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 54, 14–21.
- SMITH, R. I. L. (1996). Introduced plants in Antarctica: Potential impacts and conservation issues. *Biological Conservation* 76, 135–146.
- SOWIG, P. (1989). Effects of flowering plants patch size on species composition of pollinator communities, foraging strategies, and resource partitioning in bumblebees (Hymenoptera, Apidae). *Oecologia* 78, 550–558.
- STARÝ, P. & TKALCŮ, B. (1998). Bumble bees (Hym., Bombidae) associated with the expansive touch-me-not, *Impatiens glandulifera* in wetland biocorridors. *Anzeiger fur* Schadlingskunde Pflanzenschutz Umweltschutz 71, 85–87.
- STEFFAN-DEWENTER, I. & KUHN, A. (2003). Honeybee foraging in differentially structured landscapes. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B-Biological Sciences 270, 569–575.
- STEFFAN-DEWENTER, I., POTTS, S. G. & PACKER, L. (2005). Pollinator diversity and crop pollination services are at risk. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 20, 651–652.
- STEFFAN-DEWENTER, I. & TSCHARNTKE, T. (2000). Resource overlap and possible competition between honey bees and wild bees in central Europe. *Oecologia* 122, 288–296.
- STEINER, K. E., WHITEHEAD, V. B. & JOHNSON, S. D. (1994). Floral and Pollinator Divergence in 2 Sexually Deceptive South-African Orchids. *American Journal of Botany* 81, 185–194.
- STEVENS, M. H. H. (2006). Placing local plant species richness in the context of environmental drivers of metacommunity richness. *Journal of Ecology* 94, 58–65.
- STEVENS, M. I., HOGENDOORN, K. & SCHWARZ, M. P. (2007). Evolution of sociality by natural selection on variances in reproductive fitness: evidence from a social bee. *BMC Evolutionary Biology* 7, 153.
- STIMEC, J., SCOTTDUPREE, C. D. & MCANDREWS, J. H. (1997). Honey bee, Apis mellifera, pollen foraging in southern Ontario. Canadian Field-Naturalist 111, 454–456.
- STOUT, J. C. (2007). Reproductive biology of the invasive exotic shrub, Rhododendron ponticum L. (Ericaceae). Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society 155, 373–381.
- STOUT, J. C., KELLS, A. R. & GOULSON, D. (2002). Pollination of the invasive exotic shrub Lupinus arboreus (Fabaceae) by introduced bees in Tasmania. Biological Conservation 106, 425–434.
- STOUT, J. C. & MORALES, C. L. (2009). Ecological impacts of invasive alien species on bees. *Apidologie* 40, 388–409.
- STRAUSS, S. Y., LAU, J. A. & CARROLL, S. P. (2006). Evolutionary responses of natives to introduced species: what do introductions tell us about natural communities? *Ecology Letters* 9, 354–371.
- THOMAS, C. D., BODSWORTH, E. J., WILSON, R. J., SIMMONS, A. D., DAVIES, Z. G., MUSCHE, M. & CONRADT, L. (2001). Ecological and evolutionary processes at expanding range margins. *Nature* **411**, 577–581.
- THOMPSON, J. N. (1998). Rapid evolution as an ecological process. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* **13**, 329–332.
- THOMSON, D. (2004). Competitive interactions between the invasive European honey bee and native bumble bees. *Ecology* **85**, 458–470.

- THOMSON, D. M. (2006). Detecting the effects of introduced species: a case study of competition between *Apis* and *Bombus. Oikos* 114, 407–418.
- THUILLER, W., ALBERT, C., ARAUJO, M. B., BERRY, P. M., CABEZA, M., GUISAN, A., HICKLER, T., MIDGELY, G. F., PATERSON, J., SCHURR, F. M., SYKES, M. T. & ZIMMERMANN, N. E. (2008). Predicting global change impacts on plant species' distributions: Future challenges. *Perspectives in Plant Ecology Evolution and Systematics* 9, 137–152.
- THUILLER, W., LAVOREL, S., ARAUJO, M. B., SYKES, M. T. & PRENTICE, I. C. (2005). Climate change threats to plant diversity in Europe. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 102, 8245–8250.
- TITZE, A. (2000). The efficiency of insect pollination of the neophyte Impatiens glandulifera (Balsaminaceae). Nordic Journal of Botany 20, 33–42.
- TORÅNG, P., EHRLÉN, J. & AGREN, J. (2008). Mutualists and antagonists mediate frequency-dependent selection on floral display. *Ecology* 89, 1564–1572.
- TRAVESET, A. & RICHARDSON, D. M. (2006). Biological invasions as disruptors of plant reproductive mutualisms. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 21, 208–216.
- TSCHEULIN, T., PETANIDOU, T., POTTS, S. G. & SETTELE, J. (2009). The impact of Solanum elaeagnifolium, an invasive plant in the Mediterranean, on the flower visitation and seed set of the native co-flowering species Glaucium flavum. Plant Ecology 205, 77–85.
- TYLIANAKIS, J. M., DIDHAM, R. K., BASCOMPTE, J. & WARDLE, D. A. (2008). Global change and species interactions in terrestrial ecosystems. *Ecology Letters* 11, 1351–1363.
- VAN ASCH, M., TIENDEREN, P. H., HOLLEMAN, L. J. M. & VISSER, M. E. (2007). Predicting adaptation of phenology in response to climate change, an insect herbivore example. *Global Change Biology* 13, 1596–1604.
- VAN KLEUNEN, M., MANNING, J. C., PASQUALETTO, V. & JOHNSON, S. D. (2008). Phylogenetically independent associations between autonomous self-fertilization and plant invasiveness. *American Naturalist* 171, 195–201.
- VAUGHTON, G. (1996). Pollination disruption by European honeybees in the Australian bird-pollinated shrub Grevillea barklyana (Proteaceae). Plant Systematics and Evolution 200, 89–100.
- VELLEND, M., HARMON, L. J., LOCKWOOD, J. L., MAYFIELD, M. M., HUGHES, A. R., WARES, J. P. & SAX, D. F. (2007). Effects of exotic species on evolutionary diversification. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 22, 481–488.
- VETAAS, O. R. (2002). Realized and potential climate niches: A comparison of four *Rhododendron* tree species. *Journal of Biogeography* 29, 545–554.
- VILÀ, M., BARTOMEUS, I., DIETZSCH, A. C., PETANIDOU, T., STEFFAN-DEWENTER, I., STOUT, J. C. & TSCHEULIN, T. (2009). Invasive plant integration into native plant–pollinator networks across Europe. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B-Biological Sciences* 276, 3887–1674.
- VILÀ, M., BASNOU, C., PYŠEK, P., JOSEFSSON, M., GENOVESI, P., GOLLASCH, S., NENTWIG, W., OLENIN, S., ROQUES, A., ROY, D., HULME, P. E. & DAISIE partners. (2010). How well do we understand the impacts of alien species on ecosystem services? A pan-European cross-taxa assessment. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment online early, doi: 10.1890/080083.
- VILÀ, M., CORBIN, D. J., DUKES, J. S., PINO, J. & SMITH, S. D. (2006). Linking plant invasions to environmental change. In *Terrestrial ecosystems in a changing world* (eds. J. CANADELL, D. PATAKI & L. PITELKA), pp. 93–102. Berlin: Springer.
- VILÀ, M., WEBER, E. & D'ANTONIO, C. (2000). Conservation implications of invasion by plant hybridization. *Biological Invasions* 2, 207–217.
- VILÀ, M. & WEINER, J. (2004). Are invasive plant species better competitors than native plant species? Evidence from pair-wise experiments. *Oikos* 105, 229–238.
- VISSER, M. E. & BOTH, C. (2005). Shifts in phenology due to global climate change: the need for a yardstick. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B-Biological Sciences* 272, 2561–2569.

- VITOUSEK, P. M., MOONEY, H. A., LUBCHENCO, J. & MELILLO, J. M. (1997). Human domination of Earth's ecosystems. *Science* 277, 494–499.
- VOGEL, S. (1983). Ecophysiology of zoophilic pollination. In *Physiological plant ecology III, encyclopedia of plant physiology* (eds. O. L. LANGE, P. S. NOBEL, C. B. OSMOND & H. ZIEGEER), pp. 559–624. Berlin: Springer Verlag.
- WALKER, N. F., HULME, P. E. & HOELZEL, A. R. (2009). Population genetics of an invasive riparian species, *Impatiens glandulifera*. Plant Ecology 203, 243–252.
- WALTHER, G. R. (2010). Community and ecosystem responses to recent climate change. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London Series B-Biological Sciences, in press.
- WALTHER, G. R., GRITTI, E. S., BERGER, S., HICKLER, T., TANG, Z. Y. & SYKES, M. T. (2007). Palms tracking climate change. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 16, 801–809.
- WALTHER, G. R., ROQUES, A., HULME, P. E., SYKES, M. T., PYŠEK, P., KUHN, I., ZOBEL, M., BACHER, S., BOTTA-DUKÁT, Z., BUGMANN, H., CZUCZ, B., DAUBER, J., HICKLER, T., JAROŠIK, V., KENIS, M., KLOTZ, S., MINCHIN, D., MOORA, M., NENTWIG, W., OTT, J., PANOV, V. E., REINEKING, B., ROBINET, C., SEMENCHENKO, V., SOLARZ, W., THUILLER, W., VILÁ, M., VOHLAND, K. & SETTELE, J. (2009). Alien species in a warmer world: risks and opportunities. *Trends* in *Ecology & Evolution* 24, 686–693.
- WARREN, M. S., HILL, J. K., THOMAS, J. A., ASHER, J., FOX, R., HUNTLEY, B., ROY, D. B., TELFER, M. G., JEFFCOATE, S., HARDING, P., JEFFCOATE, G., WILLIS, S. G., GREATOREX-DAVIES, J. N., MOSS, D. & THOMAS, C. D. (2001). Rapid responses of British butterflies to opposing forces of climate and habitat change. *Nature* **414**, 65–69.
- WATANABE, M. E. (2008). Colony collapse disorder: many suspects, no smoking gun. Bioscience 58, 384–388.
- WCISLO, W. T. & CANE, J. H. (1996). Floral resource utilization by solitary bees (Hymenoptera: Apoidea) and exploitation of their stored foods by natural enemies. *Annual Review of Entomology* **41**, 257–286.
- WESTPHAL, C., STEFFAN-DEWENTER, I. & TSCHARNTKE, T. (2003). Mass flowering crops enhance pollinator densities at a landscape scale. *Ecology Letters* 6, 961–965.
- WESTPHAL, C., STEFFAN-DEWENTER, I. & TSCHARNTKE, T. (2006). Foraging trip duration of bumblebees in relation to landscape-wide resource availability. *Ecological Entomology* 31, 389–394.
- WILLIAMS, J. W. & JACKSON, S. T. (2007). Novel climates, no-analog communities, and ecological surprises. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 5, 475–482.
- WILLIAMS, J. W., JACKSON, S. T. & KUTZBACHT, J. E. (2007). Projected distributions of novel and disappearing climates by 2100 AD. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **104**, 5738–5742.
- WILLIAMS, P. H., ARAÚJO, M. B. & RASMONT, P. (2007). Can vulnerability among British bumblebee (*Bombus*) species be explained by niche position and breadth? *Biological Conservation* 138, 493–505.
- WILLIS, S. G. & HULME, P. E. (2002). Does temperature limit the invasion of Impatiens glandulifera and Heracleum mantegazzianum in the UK? Functional Ecology 16, 530–539.
- WILLMER, P. G. (1988). The role of insect water-balance in pollination ecology-Xylocopa and Calotropis. Oecologia 76, 430–438.
- WILLMER, P. G. & CORBET, S. A. (1981). Temporal and microclimatic partitioning of the floral resources of *Justicia aurea* amongst a concourse of pollen vectors and nectar robbers. *Oecologia* 51, 67–78.
- WILSON, R. J., GUTIÉRREZ, D., GUTIÉRREZ, J. & MONSERRAT, V. J. (2007). An elevational shift in butterfly species richness and composition accompanying recent climate change. *Global Change Biology* 13, 1873–1887.
- WOOLHOUSE, M. E. J., TAYLOR, L. H. & HAYDON, D. T. (2001). Population biology of multihost pathogens. *Science* 292, 1109–1112.
- YURK, B. P. & POWELL, J. A. (2009). Modeling the Evolution of Insect Phenology. Bulletin of Mathematical Biology 71, 952–979.